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Our mandate

Our mandate is to promote and maintain competition in the Republic of South Africa in
order to:
• Promote the efficiency, adaptability and development of the economy
• Provide consumers with competitive prices and product choices
• Promote employment and advance the social and economic welfare of South Africans
• Expand opportunities for South African participation in world markets and recognise the
role of foreign competition in South Africa
• Ensure that small and medium-sized enterprises have an equitable opportunity to participate
in the country's economy
• Provide a greater spread of ownership, in particular to historically disadvantaged persons
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Abbreviations
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Act

Competition Act, no. 89 of 1998 (as amended)

ATM

automated teller machine

Asgi-SA

Accelerated and Shared Growth Initiative for South Africa

BEE

black economic empowerment

CAC

Competition Appeal Court

CLP

corporate leniency policy

Commission

Competition Commission

Cosatu

Congress of South African Trade Unions

CST

community service telephone

DOJ

Department of Justice (USA)

dti

Department of Trade and Industry

Fedusa

Federation of Unions of South Africa

FTC

Federal Trade Commission (USA)

GDP

gross domestic product

Icasa

Independent Communications Authority of South Africa

ICN

International Competition Network

IT

information technology

LCR

least cost routing

Nactu

National Council of Trade Unions

NUM

National Union of Mineworkers

OECD

Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development

PFMA

Public Finance Management Act, no. 1 of 1999

PPI

producer price inflation

SAA

South African Airways

SACOTU

South African Confederation of Trade Unions

SADC

Southern African Development Community

Seta

Sectoral Education and Training Authority

SME

small and medium enterprise

SNO

second network operator

SOE

state owned enterprise

Tribunal

Competition Tribunal

Udipa

Uitenhage and Despatch Independent Practitioners Association

UK

United Kingdom

UNCTAD

United Nations Conference on Trade and Development

USA

United States of America

USAID

United States Agency for International Development

VANS

value-added network service
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Commissioner’s overview
Competition policy has figured prominently over the past year in debates on the developmental challenges facing South
Africa. This is partly because recent competition cases have highlighted how widespread anti-competitive conduct and
market structures are, and what a significant obstacle they are to accelerated and shared growth. It is also because
competition issues have been highlighted by studies on the South African economy and its performance.
These developments have coincided with the Commission's own strategic planning and prioritisation processes. These
processes have underpinned the Commission's focus on sectors such as banking, food and agro-processing and infrastructure.
The Commission has also uncovered cartel activity where established industry players have conspired to charge supracompetitive prices to the detriment of consumers, and poor consumers in particular, such as in food and pharmaceutical
markets.
The Competition Commission has a particular role in addressing the country's development challenges. Through using
its powers under the Competition Act, the Commission can uncover anti-competitive conduct and prosecute the offenders
in the Competition Tribunal. The penalties imposed by the Competition Tribunal are an important deterrent to such
conduct and, as such, promote more competitive outcomes in the economy. The competition authorities recognise that
we are one, albeit important, policy instrument in achieving a more efficient, competitive and fair economy; and we will
continue to work with all stakeholders towards this wider goal in what are very challenging times.

Sector focus
To enhance the Commission's effectiveness in achieving its vision, we embarked on the implementation of our strategic
plan; a key part of which was prioritising vital sectors identified on the basis of their significance for accelerated and
shared growth to support employment creation, their impact on poor consumers, and their role in lowering the costs of
doing business.
The sectors include financial services, food and agro-processing, infrastructure and construction, and intermediate
industrial products. This targeted approach has worked well and we have made good progress in the year under review,
having undertaken various studies and investigations. A number of important cases have been finalised which are described
in more detail in this annual report.

Cartel busting

Shan Ramburuth: Commissioner

South Africa's history of economic and geographic isolation makes the economy particularly prone to cartel behaviour.
Consequently, the Commission followed the cue of international competition authorities by devoting considerable time
and attention to the identification and shutting down of cartels operating in the South African economy.
The Commission conducted a number of search and seizure operations bolstering its cartel-busting activities, but more
than anything, it has been the Commission's effective application of its corporate leniency policy (CLP) that drove these
successful prosecutions. Many of these cases, notably in the bread and milk industries which are of particular concern
to consumers, made national headlines.
During the year under review, the Commission reviewed the CLP to make it a more effective instrument and to offer
business greater legal certainty as to when an applicant qualifies for leniency. We look forward to implementing and
reaping the benefits of this change in future.

Consumer advocacy
Markets depend on the behaviour of business and consumers to keep them fair and competitive. The Commisson's role
is to help remove stumbling blocks that business practices may place in the way of competitive forces to the detriment
of consumers. However, it is essential that the work of the Commission be complemented by both the voices and actions
of civil society. We are encouraged by the number of non-governmental and consumer protection organisations which
made submissions at Competition Tribunal hearings. The participation of organisations such as the Black Sash, Cosatu,
the Human Rights Commission, and the National Consumer Forum was valuable both to assist the Tribunal to reach
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its decision and in contributing to the national debate. This meant that many South Africans, for the first time, became
aware of the Commission and how competition enforcement advances the interests of consumers.

Banking enquiry
The work of the public enquiry into bank charges and access to the national payments system continued during the year
under review. Both of these have an impact on how competitive banking services can be provided so that the costs to
consumers and business can come down. During the course of the enquiry, the technical team held 101 stakeholder
engagements and received submissions from stakeholders including 267 submissions from individual consumers of banking
services. The enquiry panel also held 21 days of public hearings. The Commission anticipates releasing the report in
July 2008.

The year ahead
The Commission has begun to use the powers conferred upon it by the Competition Act more widely and effectively and will continue to do so in the year ahead. The Commission will also raise the thresholds for notification of mergers.
Thresholds have not been raised since 2001, and consequently need to be adjusted to be in line with growth in the
economy and in the size of merger transactions.
We view our strategic plans and priorities as multi-year commitments, particularly given the time and resources required
to address competition issues in what are often complex industries and markets. The Commission will continue to work
on these priority areas over coming years, periodically re-assessing them in consultation with stakeholders.
The Commission has conducted ground-breaking work in the year under review, and this is entirely due to its staff who
have worked with dedication, enthusiasm and professionalism. It is an honour and privilege to work with a team of people
of such high calibre and the South African public can have faith that the staff of the Competition Commission will
stridently pursue a fair and efficient economy for all.

Office of the Commissioner
Standing: Anisa Kessery; Thulani Kunene; Shan Ramburuth and Johan Dreyer
Sitting: Nandi Mokoena and Sesule Mojapelo
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Introduction
Implementation of the
Commission's strategic plan

•

During 2007/08, the Competition Commission implemented
its strategic plan, adopted in February 2007. Its key

in respect to policy and legislation emanating from

forestry; financial services, infrastructure and construction;

government departments

and intermediate industrial products. Each is discussed in

External communication especially through the media

more detail in part 1 of this report.

has improved
•

The Commission devised a communications strategy.

achievements, which demonstrate significant progress in
implementing the five strategic priorities, are listed briefly
below.

approach and methodology

Increase staff morale and motivation
•

The Commission adopted and implemented a total
rewards framework

•

The performance management system was revised and
staff have been trained to implement the policy in the
2008/09 financial year

•

A draft to change remuneration policy is under discussion

•

All other human resources policies are currently being
reviewed by an external service provider

•

Define and clarify the Commission's

Regular staff meetings and improved internal
communication with staff.

Align organisational structure and work
processes to the Commission's strategic
priorities
With the prioritisation framework in place, the Commission's

The first part of this report details the work done by the
Commission in its four priority sectors. It also covers the

mandate. Prioritising certain sectors and issues would enable

telecommunications and healthcare sectors, which continue

it to spend its time and resources more appropriately. This

to be important areas of focus for the Commission.

framework was approved by its executive committee in
February 2008.

main activities: enforcement, merger control, legal services,
policy and research, advocacy, stakeholder management,

competition concerns (the extent to which the market is not

communication and international relationships. This part

working well for consumers and is characterised by market

also statistically quantifies activities in each of the

failure) and its alignment with government's economic policy

Commission's divisions.

priorities. The presence of competition concerns could be
indicated by:

The third part provides the audited financial statements of

•

The value of the market and the number of consumers

the Commission, as well as a report on how well it has

affected

fulfilled its corporate governance obligations.

•

The extent to which the sector provides essential inputs
affects the cost of doing business
in South Africa and the
competitiveness of firms

•

The importance of the sector in

information, knowledge and expertise

respect of growth and

During the 2007/08 Financial year the Commission assessed

development objectives
•

The number of complaints

management and identified gaps that have led to inefficient

received and the history of anti-

access to resources. A knowledge management co-ordinator

competitive practices in the sector.

has been appointed to drive the development of a more
The Commission applied these criteria
by taking into account commissioned

8

The second part gives an overview of the Commission's

The Commission identified priority sectors on the basis of

structure will be designed in the 2008/09 financial year.

Ensure effective advocacy and

reports and investigations. The

communication

following were identified as priority

•

sectors: food, agro-processing and

The Commission's advocacy role has increased especially

prioritisation exercise described above.

recognised it needed to be more focused in pursuit of its

to other economic sectors and

effective process, covered in more detail in part 2.

2008. It is organised largely by the outcome of the strategic

competitive market structures and practices, the Commission

additional resources are needed. A new organisational

the current level and prevailing practices of knowledge

This report covers the period from 1 April 2007 to 31 March

To deal proactively with market concentration and anti-

divisions were able to plan better and have indicated what

Establish the Commission as a centre of

Structure of the annual report
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Priority sectors

Part 1
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Food and agro-processing sector
Anti-competitive behaviour in markets that affect poorer

information about other cartel members. For more on the

Box 1: Corporate leniency

consumers is a priority for the Commission. Sharply

Commission’s corporate leniency policy see Box 1.

Like competition authorities worldwide, the Commission

increasing food prices internationally, as well as in South
Africa, have grave implications for consumers, particularly
low-income households, which spend more than 30 percent
of their total annual household expenditure on food (as
compared with 7 percent spent by the wealthiest
households). For the past two years, consumer prices for
food in South Africa have increased at rates substantially
higher than the average for all items.

has prioritised identifying and breaking up cartels, an
In line with its increasing focus on contraventions of the

egregious contravention of competition law tantamount

Act affecting consumers directly and where it can have

to theft. The last financial year saw a sharp increase in the

meaningful impact, the Commission expedited the

Commission’s cartel eradication activities with investigations

investigation of the bread price fixing complaint and

initiated or continued against 11 suspected cartels.

referred the matter against Foodcorp, Tiger Brands and
Pioneer Foods to the Competition Tribunal in February
2007. After receiving the complaint referral, Tiger Brands

Many factors contribute to the recent food price increases,

conducted its own investigation, which confirmed the

including rising input and petrol costs, biofuels development,

allegations made by the Commission.

and growing international demand. Anti-competitive
Tiger Brands then entered into a settlement agreement

influences by directly increasing food prices above a

which was confirmed as a consent order by the Tribunal

reduce food production over time.
The Competition Commission has uncovered widespread
price fixing and other breaches of the Competition Act in

profits by reducing competition. Cartel members may
agree on such matters as price fixing, total industry output,
market shares, allocation of customers or territories, bidrigging and profit-sharing. Recent international research
shows that the average overcharge by cartel participants

conduct, such as collusion, compounds the inflationary
competitive level. It also raises input costs which can

The aim of cartels is to increase individual members’

is between 20 and 30 percent.

in November 2007. Tiger admitted liability for its conduct

Cartels are secretive by nature, and often the only way to

and agreed to a penalty of R98,784,869.90 or 5.7 percent

find out about them is from an insider. The Commission’s

of turnover from its bread operations nationally for the

corporate leniency policy (CLP) provides an incentive to

2006 financial year.

cartel members to confess their anti-competitive activities,
since the first cartel member to do so will be given immunity

several markets relating to food products and agro-

from prosecution and any administrative fine.

processing, including bread, milling, silos, dairy products

Despite the information provided by other members of

and inputs to food production, such as fertiliser. Prosecuting

the cartel, Pioneer and Foodcorp have denied any

cartels by the Commission has been supported by in-depth

wrongdoing. The Commission has therefore referred the

In the 2007/08 financial year, the CLP proved very effective

research into the pricing of staple food identifying

matter against them to the Tribunal for adjudication and

in encouraging cartel members to assist the Commission

competition concerns throughout the value chain, including

will seek higher fines for these two alleged members of the

market allocation and ‘surplus removal’. The Commission

cartel. The Tribunal is able to impose a penalty of up to

has also engaged stakeholders and the public on food

10 percent of annual turnover.

pricing.

to uncover collusion and bid-rigging. The Commission
received ten new applications for corporate leniency, as
compared with three in the previous financial year, enabling
it to conduct investigations (some of which were carried
over from 2006/07) into suspected bread, dairy, milling,

In addition, the Commission received information from

Cartel busting in the food sector
Detecting and eradicating cartels is a major part of the
Commission’s enforcement activities.

Bread and milling cartels
Complaints from bread distributors in the Western Cape

cargo, passenger airlines, wire products, construction and

milling sector. Tiger Brands corroborated this, providing

plastics cartels. Several of these cartels are discussed

additional information, and therefore received conditional

elsewhere in this report and all are operating within the

leniency in respect of this aspect of its anti-competitive

Commission’s prioritised sectors.

business practices. These investigations are complete and
this matter will be referred to the Tribunal during the next

During 2007 the Commission embarked on a process of

Competition Commission into allegations that Premier

financial year. Should Tiger Brands continue to cooperate

reviewing the CLP to make it more effective and received

Foods, Tiger Brands, Foodcorp and Pioneer Foods were

throughout the prosecution process, it will receive full

comments from various stakeholders. The amended CLP

fixing bread prices. In January 2007, Premier Foods was

leniency. The Commission subsequently initiated a

will be published in the next financial year.

granted corporate leniency in return for providing

complaint against various millers.

in December 2006 led to an investigation by the

10

pharmaceuticals, tyre manufacture, freight forwarding, air

Premier Foods indicating the existence of a cartel in the

competition commission south africa annual report 2007/08

competitive prices to third parties or consumers directly,
and eliminate price competition for long-life milk, forcing
consumers to pay more.
Clover successfully applied for corporate leniency relating
to certain contraventions of the Competition Act in
exchange for information, but it will be prosecuted for
other offences not covered by the leniency application.

Fertiliser
The largest single cost of agricultural production is fertiliser
(constituting 25 to 30 percent of the input cost of maize
production, for example). Anti-competitive conduct in
markets for agricultural inputs can increase the costs of
agricultural production and reduce the amount of staple
foods grown and processed.
The markets for fertiliser products have historically been
characterised by cooperation between the major suppliers.
Only a few firms presently dominate the fertiliser industry,
and the Commission has blocked several mergers in the
past which would weaken competition further. In the period
under review, the Commission found that a proposed
intermediate merger between Yara International and
Kemira GrowHow Ojy was likely to substantially prevent
or lessen competition in the supply of urea, an important
component of fertiliser, and recommended that the merger
be approved subject to certain conditions of supply. The
merging parties took the matter to the Tribunal to oppose
the initial conditions. Subsequently, consensus was reached
that the parties would continue providing smaller firms
with urea, and the Tribunal approved the condition.

Milk cartel

appropriate message to other businesses involved in similar

Another component of fertiliser and animal feeds is

An investigation into anti-competitive behaviour in the

conduct.

phosphoric acid. A proposed merger of producers Sasol

milk industry started in February 2005 and found evidence

and Foskor was withdrawn after the Commission raised

of price fixing for raw and processed milk and the

It is alleged that Clover Industries (Clover), Clover SA,

concerns about the anti-competitive effects it would have.

manipulation of the market to restrict competition. During

Parmalat, Ladismith Cheese, Woodlands Dairy, Lancewood

However, the firms went ahead with a toll-producing

the year, the Commission prepared to bring its case against

and Nestlé engaged in a range of anti-competitive practices

agreement which appears to have generated the same

eight dairy processors before the Competition Tribunal in

which enabled some or all of them to coordinate their

outcome. This agreement has now been terminated,

September 2008. The Commission is seeking an order

pricing strategies. They colluded to fix the purchase price

apparently in recognition that it may be anti-competitive,

from the Tribunal prohibiting the processors from

of raw milk, maintain the price of milk at artificially high

and the Commission is currently investigating a related

continuing these practices, and a fine which sends an

levels, prevent producers from selling surplus raw milk at

complaint.
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The Commission has also referred a complaint by Nutriflo

issues within the wheat value chain at the request of Grain

against the major producers of nitrogenous fertiliser to the

South Africa, an association of grain producers. The

Tribunal. Another complaint brought by Profert against

research shows indications of significant anti-competitive

the same producers is still being investigated. The

behaviour in many areas, several of which are the subject

Commission’s analysis indicates abuse of dominance and

of cases currently under investigation.

collusion by the major producers, Sasol, Yara SA, Omnia

Box 2: Commission
invites civil society
participation
The Commission’s investigations into

and AECI. Nitrogenous fertiliser was sold to farmers in

Based on the research, as well as enforcement cases

anti-competitive practices in food

the inland regions (where the majority of maize is grown)

investigated in the period under review, the Commission

markets preceded the global food crisis.

at prices 30 to 50 percent higher than what these producers

decided to broaden the scope of its work in food products,

However, with the high costs of food

charged their export customers. In addition, prices to inland

focusing primarily on staple foods. Further research

generally, there has been widespread

customers have been 12 to 14 percent higher than prices

evaluated the impact of market structure and anti-

public concern, with a number of

for products destined for the Western Cape. These matters

competitive behaviour on the pricing of six groups of staple

organisations expressing their alarm in

are pending before the Competition Tribunal.

food: poultry and eggs; dairy; wheat, maize and bread;
pelagic fish; oils and fats and black tea, providing the

Research into food pricing

Commission with economic data to analyse mergers and

The Commission studied market structure and competition

prosecute anti-competitive conduct in the food sector.

a vibrant public debate over food pricing.
In this context, the Commission has
worked closely with civil society, briefing
organisations on the work it is doing
and how competition law can assist as
well as what its limitations are. Media
coverage of the Commission’s food
sector investigations has also been
extensive, which may influence firms
engaged in anti-competitive behaviour
to evaluate reputational risk as another
possible cost to company.
During the Tribunal hearings on the
Tiger Brands case, the Commission
specifically invited civil society
organisations to participate. The
objective was to give a voice to the
victims of anti-competitive conduct and
to establish the connection between this
behaviour and consumer rights. The
Congress of South African Trade
Unions, the National Consumer Forum,
the Black Sash and the South African
Human Rights Commission all
participated. Greater engagement fosters
better understanding of

the

Commission’s work and enables it, in
turn, to be better informed and thus
take better decisions.
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Financial services sector
Competition concerns in this sector arise from very
high concentration in almost all banking product
categories with little evidence of rivalry between the
four largest banks (Nedbank, Absa, Standard Bank

Box 3: Terms of reference of the
banking enquiry
The enquiry has been probing:

and First National Bank). 86 percent of total deposits
and 99.7 percent of transactions processed through

•

the national payments system are generated by the
'Big Four'. High barriers to entry for non-traditional,
small, or prospective banks limit innovation in the
industry. Similarly, fees are high and increasing
rapidly and are borne disproportionately by lowincome customers. The Commission's main effort

•

in the financial sector during the 2007/08 financial
year has been the continuation of the banking
enquiry.
•

The banking enquiry

The level and structure of bank charges and other providers
of payments of services, including:
- The relation between the costs of providing retail banking
and/or payment services and the charges for these services
- The process by which charges are set
- The level and scope of existing and potential competition
in this regard
The feasibility of improving access by non-banks and wouldbe banks to the national payment system infrastructure, so
that they can compete more effectively in providing payment
services to consumers
Any other aspect relating to the payment system or these
charges which could be regarded as anti-competitive.

The banking industry is important both in terms of

The enquiry panel

its contribution to the economy and in the way it

The enquiry is being conducted for the Commission by a panel
appointed by the Competition Commissioner, consisting of
Chairperson Thabani Jali, Oupa Bodibe, Hixonia Nyasulu and
Rob Petersen.

touches the lives of South Africans. At the end of
2006, the banking industry's revenue accounted for
around 6 percent of GDP or R106.9 billion. During
2006, bank charges levied by the big four banks
amounted to R34.5 billion, or roughly a third of
their income. Fees and charges facing individuals
on personal transaction accounts alone generated
around R11 billion.

The technical team
There are seven members of the technical team responsible for
researching and investigating, as well as an enquiry manager.
Members of the technical team are a mix of full-time
Commission employees and consultants.

In August 2006, the Competition Commission
launched a public enquiry into bank charges and
access to the national payments system. Both of
these have an impact on how competitive banking

Banking enquiry programme
The banking enquiry programme consisted of five consecutive stages. Stages 4 and 5 fell within the time period of this
annual report.

services can be provided so that consumers pay less.

Table 1: Banking enquiry programme August 2006 - June 2008
During the past 18 months, the proceedings of the
banking enquiry's hearings have been transparent

Stage

Dates

Activity

and well-covered in the media. This has in itself

1

August - October 2006

Submissions, analysis and research

been beneficial to consumers and the sector as it has

2

November 2006

First public hearings

raised awareness and led to constructive self-reflection

3

December 2006 - March 2007

Further analysis and engagement

on the part of the banks.

4

April - July 2007

Technical team engagements and final public hearings

5

August 2007 - June 2008

Analysis and report writing

competition commission south africa annual report 2007/08
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Technical team engagements with

Exploration and analysis of the issues

to the Commission at the end of June 2008. For more

stakeholders

Following the second round of public hearings, a series of

information, please go to www.compcom.co.za/banking/.

During the course of the enquiry, the technical team held

exploratory meetings was held with banks, system operators,

101 stakeholder engagements. Concerned stakeholders

card schemes, consumer groups and retailers to explore

After the enquiry

included consumers, small banks and prospective banks

the feasibility and practical implications of recom-

The Commission will decide on an appropriate course of

and non-bank stakeholders, such as retailers, micro-lenders,

mendations and proposed changes which might be included

action in consultation with the Department of Trade and

bureaux and system operators who provide services in

in the panel’s final report. They focused on:

Industry and National Treasury, which may include a

relation to the processing of payments.

•

Direct charging for ATM transactions and greater access

formal investigation and/or recommendations for

for additional (including non-bank) ATM service providers

legislation, regulation and policy.

Consumers and consumer groups

•

independently and more transparently

The enquiry received 267 submissions from individual
consumers of banking services. A number were received
from consumer groups, such as the Financial Sector

Determining interchange in all payment streams

•

Making it easier for bank customers to compare product
offerings and prices, and to switch providers.

Campaign Coalition (including Cosatu and the South

Co-operative Banks Bill, 2007
During the period under review, the Commission also
made comments in support of the Co-operative Banks Bill
which, if passed, will see far-reaching changes to the

African Communist Party), the Benchmark Foundation,

Final report due June 2008

the Bank Pensioners Society, the Black Sash, Savings and

In November 2007, the panel announced that it would

banking services, including credit unions, village and

Credit Co-operatives League, the South African National

postpone the release of its final report to give thoughtful

community banks, making financial services for thousands

Consumer Union, the Ethekwini Civic Forum and the

attention to the large amount of information received so

of people and small business ventures, particularly in rural

1860 Pioneers Foundation. Key themes in these submissions

as to produce thorough and well-considered

areas more accessible.

were the level and incidence of bank charges, with some

recommendations. The report is scheduled to be presented

financial services sector. The bill creates “second-tier”

consumers submitting their individual bank statements as
evidence of the reasons for their complaints.

Small banks and prospective banks
The submissions and hearings revealed that small banks,
like Mercantile Bank, Ithala Limited and Capitec Bank,
and those institutions that saw themselves as prospective
participants in the national payments system had a number
of concerns. Such concerns included the costs of entry to
the payment system and its different streams, and once in,
inadequate representation in various institutional structures
and the disadvantages of being a small player in bilateral
negotiations of interbank fees.

Second public hearings
There were 21 days of public hearings during the enquiry.
The first hearing took place in November 2006, and covered
general presentations by stakeholders. During April, May
and June 2007, a second set of public hearings was held
on specific topics identified by the panel as requiring further
public exploration. These included ATM fees, payment
cards and interchange fees, and the level and structure of

Banking enquiry panel

bank charges. Specific parties were invited to appear before

Rob Petersen; Thabani Jali; Hixonia Nyasulu and Oupa Bodibe

the panel to make a brief presentation and answer questions.

14

competition commission south africa annual report 2007/08

Infrastructure and construction sector
The Commission began prioritising the infrastructure and

increasing at rates substantially in excess of producer and

overlap in the activities of the merging firms in the market

construction sector in 2006/07 and it will continue to be

consumer inflation. This has alerted the Commission to

for the wholesale distribution of pipeline solutions used in

a focus for the next several years.

possible anti-competitive conduct in these markets, which

the engineering, agricultural, plumbing and municipal

forms the third phase of the project.

sectors. The proposed transaction also resulted in vertical

After sustained economic growth over the past decade,

integration in that DPI Plastics are manufacturers of plastic

government is addressing infrastructure bottlenecks, mainly

Phase 3 entails assessing whether there are arrangements

pipes and fittings, sanitary ware, plumbing and hardware

through Asgi-SA. Investment is being led by the major

and behaviour in these markets which may contravene the

products while Incledon Cape is a distributor of these

state owned enterprises (SOEs) in transport and energy,

Competition Act and prompt the Commission to initiate

products. During its investigation of the merger the

such as Eskom which plans to spend more than R340

a formal investigation. Formal investigations are now

Commission also found evidence of collusion between the

billion on electricity generation plants over the next five

underway into possible anti-competitive practices in some

merging firms and other independent firms in the

years. Infrastructure spending is also increasing ahead of

markets.

downstream market for the distribution of pipeline solutions

the 2010 FIFA Soccer World Cup. Anti-competitive
behaviour adds to the cost of this state-led investment, as

in respect of tenders and ad hoc quotations to municipalities.

Merger review finds evidence of
bid-rigging

Finally, evidence suggested that market allocation took

Increased bid-rigging in the construction industry

Prohibited intermediate merger:

prohibited the merger and started an investigation into

internationally has also been a factor leading the

DPI Plastics / Incledon Cape

bid-rigging in this sector. See Box 4 for more information

well as the cost of investment by private firms more broadly.

Commission to focus on this sector. Worldwide, there have
been high profile investigations into construction and

In this intermediate merger concerning plastic pipes and
fittings, the Commission found that there was a horizontal

place in the upstream market for the manufacturing of
pipeline solutions in the Western Cape. The Commission

on the Commission’s efforts to enable its staff and
stakeholders to detect collusion.

infrastructure projects, such as by the Netherlands’
competition authority and the UK’s Office of Fair Trading,
which have uncovered extensive bid-rigging running into
thousands of contracts, involving hundreds of firms.

Research into construction
materials and services leads to
investigations
In the 2006/07 financial year, the Commission initiated
an internal study of construction materials and services,
with emphasis on inputs into infrastructure. The study has
three phases. Phase 1 identified the major products and
services on which government and SOE infrastructure
spending went and was concluded in 2006/07.
Phase 2, which was completed during this financial year,
assessed pricing trends of key products using producer
prices and levels of concentration, and competition in
markets such as bricks, steel products, cement, concrete
and plaster. A review of the production price index (PPI)
data revealed that over recent years, prices of many input
products to the infrastructure programme have been
competition commission south africa annual report 2007/08
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Box 4: Building skills to detect
collusion
Bid-rigging is often the work of a cartel, and is very
difficult to detect. The Commission’s corporate leniency
policy has proved successful in getting cartel members
to turn on one another. Training government

Advocacy with government and SOEs
Together with the UK’s Office for Fair Trading, the
Commission ran a one day workshop in September
2007 on bid-rigging and the corporate leniency policy
for role players such as the State Tender Board, the
Department of Public Enterprises and SOEs.

procurement officers and Commission staff to recognise
the tell-tale signs of collusion provides another tool with
which to combat bid-rigging.

The Commission also presented to Eskom’s procurement
managers on compliance, bid-rigging by suppliers and
the corporate leniency policy. The objective was to

Capacity building for Commission staff

enable Eskom to identify bid-rigging in its infrastructure

Two internal training workshops on bid-rigging were

development programme and develop its own

held for Commission staff, facilitated by international

compliance programme on the Competition Act.

competition authorities – the UK’s Office of Fair Trading
and the US’s Department of Justice. Policy briefs were

The Commission made presentations on bid-rigging

also prepared for internal circulation in the Commission

and competition concerns in construction to the Coega

covering various topics related to the construction and

Development Corporation and the South African

infrastructure sector, including one on bid-rigging in

Readymix Manufacturers Association.

construction.
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Intermediate industrial products
The Commission has prioritised competition in sectors

Price fixing in wire rod market

reflected the strong position of Mittal as sole local supplier

that are important for economic growth, employment

In Barnes Fencing Industries v Mittal, Allens Meshco

of its main input.

creation and poverty alleviation, in line with Asgi-SA and

Group and others, Barnes Fencing (Barnes) purchased

the Department of Trade and Industry’s National Industrial

wire rod from Mittal, for conversion into various wire

It found, however, that if DSP was independent, and had

Policy Framework. Intermediate industrial products,

products, in competition with the Allens Meshco Group.

access to competitively priced steel at export prices, with

comprised mainly of basic chemicals and basic metal

Barnes alleged that Mittal offered the Allens Meshco

no actual or threatened restrictive conditions, it would be

products such as polymers, steel, aluminium and fertiliser,

Group extended credit terms and preferential prices. Barnes

an effective competitor to Mittal. The proposed merger

are inputs into manufacturing have therefore been prioritised

also contended that the firms in the Allens Meshco Group

by the Commission.

co-ordinated their behaviour by fixing prices and allocating
markets. The Commission has referred this matter to the

There is some overlap between the Commission’s priorities

Tribunal and it is pending. As a consequence of this

of construction and infrastructure and intermediate

investigation, Mittal has since given the Allens Meshco

industrial goods. Much of the research into construction

Group notice that it intends terminating the long-term

materials and services is equally relevant to intermediate

agreement that gave it preferential credit terms, discounts

products, for example, the analysis of steel traders and

and prices.

their role in the carbon steel value chain. As a result of
this research, the Commission is investigating possible anticompetitive behaviour in various markets.

Anti-competitive conduct

Box 5: Why is competition in
intermediate industrial
products vital for South
Africa’s growth?
Low-cost resources, cheap energy and previous state

Merger reviews

support give South Africa a significant comparative
advantage in producing key intermediate goods.

Prohibited large merger: Mittal Steel
Company / Duferco Steel Processing
This large merger, ultimately prohibited by the Tribunal,

However, uncompetitive pricing of these goods means
that their cheap production costs are not passed on to
more labour-intensive downstream manufacturing
activities which have the ability to create jobs and

The scrap metal industry cartel

involved the acquisition by Arcelor Mittal (Mittal) of

In July 2007, a search and seizure operation was carried

Duferco Steel Processing (DSP). The effect of the merger

out at the New Reclamation Group’s (Reclam) premises

would have been to integrate the Mittal plant producing

simultaneously in their Durban, Port Elizabeth and

hot rolled steel coil with the downstream production assets

Johannesburg offices. It was the biggest operation of its

intermediate industrial products are rising at rates

of DSP that transform it into cold rolled steel coil and

substantially higher than producer and consumer

kind conducted by the Commission since its inception.

galvanised products of various types. The parties to the

inflation. This is because the sectors in which such

Reclam is involved in the recycling of scrap metals, glass,

proposed merger were the only producers of these steel

goods are produced are often highly concentrated and

rubber, plastic and other materials. The raid followed a

products in South Africa.

dominated by firms which are extracting super-profits

cartel investigation initiated by the Commission in 2006

promote growth.
On the contrary, in many instances prices of

through monopolistic pricing as does, for example,

against Reclam, SA Metal and Machinery, National Scrap

When the Commission evaluated whether the merger

Metal (Cape Town) and Cape Town and Steel Work. The

would substantially prevent or lessen competition, it found

Commission suspected that the parties were involved in

that DSP had not been supplying the local market. This

As a result, the downstream labour-intensive

fixing both prices and trading conditions, as well as bid-

arose historically from a previous contractual restriction

manufacturing sector suffers low investment, low output

rigging, in the scrap metal industry. In the light of the

that Mittal had placed on DSP preventing it from selling

and poor export and employment performance. South

evidence collected against it, Reclam entered into discussions

locally in return for the ability to source its main inputs

Africa’s exports remain concentrated in basic products

with the Commission aimed at concluding a settlement

for its plant from Mittal. Even though Mittal’s contractual

with low levels of beneficiation. By working proactively

agreement which was finalised outside the period under

restriction on DSP had been removed by a Competition

to improve competition in intermediate industrial

review. It will be reported on in the 2008/09 annual report.

Tribunal ruling, DSP had not started selling in the local

products markets, the Commission hopes to have some

See the Commission’s website at www.compcom.co.za for

market. The Commission believed that the effective

effect on downstream job creation and improved

more information.

continued compliance by DSP with the previous restriction

productivity in manufacturing.

Mittal Steel (SA).

competition
competition commission south africa annual report 2007/08
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would have thus eliminated one of the potential sources of

When public interest outweighs anti-

capacity that would significantly increase the ability of the

competitive rivalry for hot-dipped galvanised steel and cold

competitive effects: Wheelabrator / Thor

local industry to compete in the international metallic

rolled steel coil in the highly concentrated local market.

Foundry

abrasives market. The Commission accepted that public

Therefore, the Commission concluded that DSP was a

Both parties to this intermediate merger were involved in

interest issues outweighed the anti-competitive effect of the

prospective competitor with substantial capacity. Actual

the manufacture and supply of steel and cast iron metallic

merger and approved it conditionally. The parties undertook

and threatened anti-competitive practices on the part of

abrasives used mainly in the surface finishing, quarrying

to price their product at export parity prices, increase their

Mittal had limited its ability to exert competitive discipline.

and stone cutting industries. The Commission found that

South African production capacity and will sponsor the

The merger represented a substantial prevention or lessening

the parties held 90 percent of the market between them.

entrance of a black empowered firm in the market. These

of competition and the Commission accordingly

Wheelabrator and Thor argued that although the

conditions will be monitored by an independent auditing

recommended to the Tribunal that the merger be prohibited.

transaction was anti-competitive, it would result in a

body.

The merging parties withdrew the merger application

consolidation of South African manufacturing and export

before it was heard.
and Allied Workers’ Union (Nehawu), the Independent

The Commission prohibited the proposed acquisition by

Box 6: Encouraging trade union
participation in Commission
proceedings

Ferro Industrial Products (Ferro) of Powder-Lak. The

Employees are often affected by mergers and acquisitions

Solidarity and the South African Medical Association.

companies both manufacture and supply powder coating

of companies. In the 2007/08 financial year, the

used by the construction, white goods (fridges, televisions

Commission imposed or recommended conditions

and other appliances), automotive, architectural and general

addressing employment concerns in a number of mergers.

metal finishing industries.

The Commission encourages trade unions to engage in

Prohibited intermediate merger: Ferro
Industrial Products / Powder-Lak

mergers and with merging parties and their legal
The proposed merger would have reduced the number of

practitioners on substantive competition concerns.

firms in the powder coating market from three to two,

In March 2008, a consultative forum was organised by

giving the merged entity more than 50 percent of the

the Commission to discuss the role of trade unions in

market share. Ferro and Powder-Lak argued that powder

implementing the Competition Act. Sixty-three trade

coating could be substituted for solvent-based wet coating,

unionists from 20 unions and 4 trade union federations

galvanising and anodising. However, customers of the

attended. Cosatu, Nactu and Fedusa were represented

merging parties indicated that there are quality and technical

by their general secretaries.

limitations inhibiting a switch from powder coating to other
forms of coating.

Municipal and Allied Trade Union (Imatu) and the
National Service and Allied Workers’ Union (Nasuwa)
participated. Seven unaffiliated unions attended, including

The Commission conducted three educational workshops
with trade unions. In addition, their legal officers received
training to make quality submissions in merger
proceedings through a workshop run through the
Development Institute for Training, Support and
Education for Labour. In total, 75 trade union officials
were trained on the Competition Act in the year under
review.

The Commission also engaged with the NUM and the
Food and Allied Workers Union (Fawu) over the bread

13 affiliated unions, including the National Union of

cartel, and addressed the Central Executive Committee

Mineworkers (NUM), the National Education, Health

of Cosatu on a number of competition-related matters.

The powder coating market is also characterised by high
entry barriers largely due to stringent quality requirements
by customers as well as a lack of local technical expertise
in the field. While highly profitable, the market has not
attracted new entry for more than 15 years; and there are
no potential entrants on the horizon.
The Commission found that the implementation of the
proposed merger would remove Powder-Lak from the
market, where it has been an effective competitor to Ferro.
This was likely to lead to a substantial prevention or lessening
of competition in the powder coating market and prices
were likely to increase.
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Attending the consultative forum: Dennis George (General Secretary of Fedusa); Zwelinzima Vavi
(General Secretary of Cosatu); Thulani Kunene (Acting Deputy Commissioner); Manene Salema
(General Secretary of Nactu) and Shan Ramburuth (Commissioner).
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Telecommunications sector
The telecommunications sector is characterised by high

Interconnection is the practice of connecting different

prices and lack of competition. While it is not a priority

telecommunications networks to enable subscribers of one

sector identified through the Commission’s strategic

network to call and receive calls from subscribers of other

planning process, it still remains an area of focus because

networks. It is one of the essential conditions necessary for

of its importance to growth and development in South

a competitive market. Lower interconnection charges

Africa and the cost of doing business. The Commission

among the mobile operators will mean competition in the

has 11 complaints before it concerning telecommunications

sector should improve, with prices falling while utilisation

matters, and devotes considerable resources to the sector.

increases. The Commission has referred a case concerning
interconnection charges to the Tribunal.

Mergers may result in challenges
to the big players
With the de facto monopoly of Telkom in the fixed-line
telecommunications sector and the collective dominance
of two firms in the mobile sector, it is difficult for new
entrants to challenge incumbents. Mergers provide a way
in which larger telecommunications companies can be
created, which may be better positioned to challenge the
big players. The Commission considered a number of

The local telecommunications market structure lends itself
to anti-competitive practices. Telkom belongs to the category

Price discrimination by MTN against Cell C

of firms that are formerly state-owned, and is super-

After investigating Cell C’s complaint concerning

dominant, even with the entry of Neotel (the second

interconnection charges levied by MTN for Cell C’s

network operator, or SNO). Neotel has already stated

community service telephones (CSTs), the Commission

publicly that it will not be competing with Telkom on

found that MTN has engaged in price discrimination.

pricing, and its entry simply creates a duopoly.

mergers in the telecommunications sector, approving all
of them unconditionally. Two important mergers are
discussed below.

Merged entity will cut costs through
economies of scale

CSTs are telephones available for public use, operating on

In the Vox Telecom / Storm intermediate merger, the

The mobile operators are somewhat more competitive,

the mobile telecommunication networks, which are placed

merging parties argued that consolidation is increasingly

although firms in that market seem to behave collectively

in areas where there is limited access to fixed-line telephones.

necessary as the telecommunications industry becomes

and are in any event dominated by Vodacom, which has

In terms of the universal service obligations imposed by

progressively more high-tech. In this merger, the acquisition

a market share of approximately 55 percent. MTN has a

Icasa, each mobile network operator is obliged to roll out

of Storm would increase Vox Telecom’s (Vox) revenue,

market share of around 35 percent, and Cell C of 10

CSTs in under-serviced areas. MTN objected to the

provide increased selling opportunities, cut costs through

percent. South African mobile prices are high by

placement of Cell C’s CSTs, alleging that they were not

economies of scale and technology-sharing, and strengthen

international comparison, and while moderately good

in under-serviced areas.

Vox’s purchasing power when negotiating prices with
Telkom, the mobile operators and other companies.

access has been achieved through the mobile operators,
utilisation rates remain relatively low.

As a result, MTN is not charging Cell C the interconnection
rate for CSTs (R0.06 per minute), but the commercial

The merging firms provide least cost routing (LCR) services,

During the year under review, the Commission provided

interconnection rate (R1.25 per minute during peak periods

which entail directing cellular calls through the least cost

an analysis of competition issues in the telecommunications

and R0.77 per minute during off-peak periods). In contrast,

channel (the same mobile network as the call receiver),

sector for the Presidency’s 15 year review of changes in

MTN charges Vodacom the agreed CST interconnection

enabling customers to be charged on-net rates for all mobile

industrial structures and competition. The report examined

rate when a user of a Vodacom CST, situated in the same

calls. The transaction resulted in a market share of 31

industry structure, policy developments, and the anti-

vicinity as certain Cell C CSTs, phones an MTN customer.

percent for the merged entity. The next largest competitor,
Nashua Mobile, commands almost 25 percent of the

competitive effects of the slow liberalisation of the fixedline sector on competition. It also made recommendations

The Commission referred the case to the Competition

for improving competition.

Tribunal, after finding that MTN’s treatment of Cell C

Commission probes high mobile
interconnection charges
One of the areas the Commission gave attention in 2007/08
is the high interconnection fees charged by the mobile
networks.

market.

amounts to price discrimination, denial of access to an

Both firms had their own voice over internet protocol

essential facility, exclusionary conduct and refusal to supply

(VoIP) networks going into the merger. Competitors to the

scarce goods. The anti-competitive effects of MTN’s

merged entity voiced concerns over the economies of scale

conduct are felt in both the market for CSTs, and in the

which resulted from the merger, which might lead to market

broader markets for mobile voice and data telephony

power and place LCR providers without VoIP networks

services.

at a disadvantage. Although the Commission felt these
concerns were justified, the dynamic and innovative nature
competition commission south africa annual report 2007/08
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of the telecommunications industry necessitates that firms

transaction will not lead to a substantial lessening or

Relationship with Icasa

continue to innovate and compete vigorously. If the industry

prevention of competition in any of these markets, since

The Commission and the Independent Communications

is moving towards VoIP technologies which yield clear cost

the merged entity will be in a better position to compete

Authority of South Africa (Icasa) have concurrent

advantages for consumers, LCR competitors that do not

effectively with the dominant players and therefore

jurisdiction in the telecommunications sector, and a

have their own networks over which VOIP can be provided

recommended that the proposed transaction be approved

memorandum of agreement is being drafted to clarify their

will establish the necessary networks or partner with firms

by the Tribunal without conditions.

respective roles and set out a process for coordination and

that already have them.

cooperation between them. The Commission interacted

transaction was not likely to substantially prevent or lessen

Box 7: Capacity building in
merger analysis

competition in the market for LCR services and approved

The Commission held a three-day mergers training

the merger without conditions.

workshop in June 2007, designed by the International

The Commission was therefore of the view that the

Competition Network (ICN), and run by Commission staff

participated in its hearings and made submissions on the
market definitions for end-to-end leased lines; Icasa made
a submission to the Commission in respect of the Neotel
/ Transtel merger.

Acquisition of a large customer by Neotel

and legal professionals from South Africa, the US

bodes well for competition

Department of Justice, the US Federal Trade Commission,

Broadband Infraco Bill

the Australian Competition and Consumer Commission

The Commission supported the Broadband Infraco Bill

and the European Commission. Drawing on merger review

which creates a cost-based competitor to Telkom for

experience from several jurisdictions, the workshop was

provision of broadband. State-controlled telecom-

an interactive process focused on building and strengthening

munications infrastructure company Infraco will hold the

investigative and analytical skills required for mergers.

telecommunications assets owned by parastatal Eskom.

Forty-two Commission staff and 18 staff of competition

The cost of Infraco’s broadband offering should be

authorities from nine African countries took part.

significantly lower than Telkom’s. The Commission made

In the Transtel / Neotel large merger, second fixed-line
network operator Neotel filed its intention to acquire
Transtel, the telecommunications business division of
parastatal giant Transnet. The proposed transaction entailed
the acquisition of Transtel’s telecommunication assets, and
the appointment of Neotel as Transnet’s sole provider of
electronic communications services for five years.
Neotel is required in terms of its licence conditions to
establish and integ rate a full-service national
telecommunications network, aimed at transporting voice
and data traffic to meet the current and future needs of
South African consumers.
Transtel operates one of the largest private
telecommunications networks and has over the years
developed an integrated state-of-the-art infrastructure
which supports Transnet, South African Airways, the State
Information Technology Agency and other state owned
entities.
The Commission’s investigation revealed numerous
telecommunications markets affected by the merger,
including the operation of a national trunk network and
the provision of national and international leased-line
services, international wireless and satellite links, managed
network services and other value-added network services.
The Commission took the view that the proposed
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regularly with Icasa in the year under review and has

competition commission south africa annual report 2007/08

written submissions and presentations to parliamentary
hearings on the bill, which was passed in late 2007.

Healthcare sector
In South Africa and internationally, medical inflation
consistently exceeds average inflation levels. A multitude
of factors contribute to the healthcare industry’s high costs.
It incorporates many players, including service providers,
medical schemes, patients and multinational corporations.
Over the past financial year, much attention has been paid
to the role of hospital costs, which reportedly constitute
more than 35 percent of medical scheme premiums. Private
hospital costs per beneficiary per annum have increased
sharply between 1990 and 2005. Competition concerns
related to healthcare have been an important area of work
for the Commission in recent years, with both problematic
mergers and complaints of anti-competitive practices.

Commission conducts market
study into rising hospital prices

embarked on interventions aimed at reducing the cost of

they were guilty of:

healthcare, including the single-exit pricing regulation and

•

In the 2007/08 financial year, the Commission studied

ongoing work to reduce private hospital costs. The

private healthcare to determine what competition concerns

Commission supported the objective of its proposed

arise within the industry and if such concerns warrant

amendments to the National Health Act, but requested

hospitals while not being members of a single economic

further investigation. The main areas of research, as

the DoH to consider the implications of the amendments

entity (price fixing by competitors) between 2002 and

highlighted by the various stakeholders with whom the

on competition and determine if there are mechanisms to

2007.

Commission has engaged, include the market structure of

reduce or eliminate these concerns.

the private hospital industry; relationships between hospital
groups and specialists; the pricing of consumables (medical
supplies used in hospitals); the pricing of administration;
the bargaining power of medical schemes in their
negotiations with hospital groups; the impact of prescribed
minimum benefit legislation; medical schemes’ reserve
requirements; preferred provider network arrangements;
the role of technology as a cost driver and practices by
pharmaceutical manufacturers.

The healthcare industry is enormously complex and the

competition authorities in 2002
•

Adopting the same pricing tariffs for their respective

The Commission negotiated a settlement agreement with
Netcare and CHG in which they consented to pay R6

Cases
In the 2007/08 financial year, the Commission investigated
a number of cases within the healthcare industry. The
subject matter of the cases included the reimbursement by
medical aid schemes of pharmaceutical services; the
application of collective bargaining agreements (in terms
of the Labour Relations Act) to the Competition Act; the
practice by innovator drug manufacturers of introducing

Cooperation with health industry
regulators

Implementing a merger without the approval of the

pseudo-generic medicines into the market; and the scope
of practice of radiologists and the reimbursement to which
such specialists are entitled. Some of the more important
cases are discussed in greater detail below.

million as an administrative penalty to settle both matters.
The Competition Tribunal agreed that Netcare and CHG
were guilty of price fixing and implementing a merger
without approval. However, it dismissed the Commission’s
application to confirm the settlement agreement as a
consent order, saying that the penalty was too low. It found
that Netcare had not given a proper explanation for its
failure to notify the merger and that it had intentionally
obscured its role as a joint controller of CHG, which should
be taken into account as aggravating factors when
calculating the penalty.

Commission has therefore been in regular contact with
relevant regulators, including the Department of Health

Price fixing by hospital groups

(DoH), the Council for Medical Schemes and the Health

Netcare Hospital Group (Netcare) and Community Hospital

Professions Council of South Africa. The DoH has

Group (CHG) admitted in the 2006/07 financial year that

The Tribunal also pointed out that the unlawful
implementation of the merger had hindered the
Commission’s ability to investigate its possible anticompetitive effects. It reasoned that if administrative
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penalties were set too low, firms might consider it an

of AICC, was also cited because it is alleged that certain

engaged in dividing markets in the supply of pharmaceutical

acceptable cost of doing business to pay a small penalty

of its directors were aware of the collusion.

products and services to private hospitals. They agreed
who would provide which products to which hospitals.

as long as the unlawful implementation of a merger impeded
the proper adjudication (and potential prohibition) of the

During 2005, the Commission initiated an investigation

merger.

into allegations of a cartel between these firms, as well as

In the 2007/08 financial year, Tiger Brands and AICC

Fresenius Kabi South Africa (FKSA). The Commission’s

admitted their involvement in the cartel and started

CHG and Netcare argued it was incorrect to allege that

investigation found that the parties were engaged in collusive

settlement negotiations with the Commission. See the

the firms had fixed prices, since once the merger had

tendering and market allocation. FKSA confessed its

Commission website for more infor mation

occurred in 2002 (although unlawfully) the firms were part

involvement in the cartel and agreed to co-operate with

(www.compcom.co.za/submissions.asp). The case against

of a single economic entity and therefore were no longer

the Commission’s investigation. It was therefore granted

Dismed and Thusanong will continue before the Tribunal.

capable of colluding with one another. However, the

immunity from prosecution in terms of the corporate

Tribunal held that sole control was required before the

leniency policy.

Anti-competitive conduct allowed by Dental
Technicians Act

two firms could be considered to be part of a single
economic entity. It found that up to the moment when

The Department of Health annually invites tenders for

In 2006, Promega Dental Laboratory (Promega) complained

Netcare acquired CHG’s full equity in 2007, Netcare had

the supply of pharmaceutical products to its public hospitals.

to the Commission that the South African Dental

exercised joint control of CHG with its holding company.

The Commission’s investigation found that the

Technicians Council (SADTC) was compelling it to charge

When Netcare and CHG agreed to use the same tariffs

representatives of AICC, FKSA, Dismed and Thusanong

medical aid rates for its services, to the detriment of poorer

for their hospitals, they were therefore guilty of price fixing.

held telephonic discussions and meetings prior to the

consumers.

The Tribunal referred the settlement back to the

submission of their respective responses to the invitations

Commission for renegotiation.

to tender, in which they agreed amongst themselves who

Promega alleged that SADTC did not allow dental

would win the tenders and agreed on prices.

technicians to charge a cash rate lower than its tariff for

Bid-rigging by pharmaceutical suppliers

patients who did not have medical aid. In KwaZulu-Natal,

In February 2008, the Commission referred a case of

The Commission’s investigation also found that although

where the majority of patients did not have medical aid

collusion against Adcock Ingram Critical Care (AICC),

the alleged conduct came to the attention of several board

and the state facilities were unable to accommodate them,

Dismed Criticare (Dismed) and Thusanong Health Care

members of Tiger Brands, no action was taken by them

the SADTC tariffs resulted in Promega having to turn

(Thusanong) to the Tribunal for prosecution. AICC, Dismed

to halt the unlawful practices.

many patients away even though its costs for producing

and Thusanong are competitors who supply pharmaceutical
products to the healthcare market. Tiger Brands, the owner

dental prosthetics were generally far lower than the set
The Commission also found that AICC and FKSA were

tariffs. At the time of its complaint, SADTC was
investigating Promega for charging lower tariffs than the
gazetted ones.
Following an investigation, the Commission came to the
view that SADTC’s determination of the tariff of fees
raised significant competition concerns. However, the
alleged conduct was permitted in terms of the Dental
Technicians Act. The Commission decided that the case
should be non-referred and pursued on an advocacy basis.
It therefore contacted the Minister of Trade and Industry
and the Minister of Health in an effort to amend the anticompetitive provisions of the Dental Technicians Act.
The Department of Health advised that it was in the
process of compiling the national health reference pricing
list and was considering amending the Act to address the

Second from left is the CEO of Tiger Brands Peter Matlare who attended the AICC hearing

concerns raised by the Commission regarding the anticompetitive provisions.
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Enforcement activity

The Commission’s enforcement activity is the mandate of
the Enforcement and Exemptions division, led again by
Thulani Kunene in 2007/08. The division’s main function

Table 2: Enforcement complaints received by the Commission during the 2006/07
financial year compared with those received during the 2007/08 financial year 1

is the investigation and prosecution of anti-competitive
practices set out in Chapter 2 of the Competition Act.
Complaints are either initiated by the Commissioner or
filed by members of the public or private enterprises.
Where a prohibited practice has been established, the
matter is referred to the Competition Tribunal for
adjudication. In some cases, the Commission reaches a
settlement agreement with the respondent.

250
193

200
136

125

150
93

100
58

The Commission’s strategic decision to focus on sectors
where it can have a maximum impact on the economy and

50

37
6

10

0
Carried over from
previous year

for consumers has manifested itself strongly in its
enforcement activity and its investigations and prosecutions

Complaints received
from public

Investigations initiated
by Commission

Total

have raised the Commission’s public profile.

2006 - 2007

2007 - 2008

During the period under review, the Commission dealt
with 193 cases. The sources of these cases are shown in
Table 2. Ten complaints were initiated by the Commission,
as compared with six in the 2006/7 financial year. Seven

cases are carried over for investigation in the next financial

Of the 100 non-referrals, the Commission’s involvement

of these were in prioritised sectors, and included scrap

year.

contributed to the resolution by the disputing parties in 11
instances. In addition, out of four cases withdrawn, two

metal, phosphoric acid, polymers and high density
polyethylene products. The remaining three were in the

If a complaint is not referred (a ‘non-referral’), in general

were retracted after the conduct complained of was resolved.

transport sector.

it is because the complaint does not have a foundation in

In many of these 15 cases, the Commission facilitated

the Act, the Commission could not find sufficient evidence

dialogue between the disputing parties through its advocacy

Of the 193 complaints received, or investigations initiated,

to sustain the allegations made in the complaint, or another

function.

100 cases were not referred to the Tribunal (71 of these at

regulator or act deals with it and the Commission has no

screening and 29 after further investigation), four cases

jurisdiction. In the year under review, 8 non-referrals were

Table 3 specifies which complaints were referred to the

were withdrawn and seven cases were referred for

found to be within the ambit of another organisation or

Legal Services division for prosecution by the Commission.

adjudication. There were six consent agreements and 76

regulator.

1
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Table 3: Complaints of anti-competitive conduct referred by the Commission to the Legal Services division for prosecution
between 1 April 2007 and 31 March 2008
Complainant

Respondent

Market / product

Description of conduct

Commissioner

ABB Group of Companies and
others

Energy / switchgear

A credit-system was designed to ensure that all cartel members obtained projects for
switchgears, used to control energy flow in electricity grids. Collusive tendering, price fixing
and market allocation in this market affected customers such as Eskom, the City of Cape
Town and the City of Durban

New Scotland Sawmills

Komatiland Forests

Forestry / saw logs

Abuse of dominance by forcing small saw millers to pay high prices on the spot or open
market, compared to prices paid by larger buyers with long-term contracts with Komatiland
Forests

Coetzee and Coetzee

Rooibos Limited

Agriculture / tea

Abuse of dominance as Rooibos Limited entered into exclusive supply agreements with
packers which required them to source rooibos tea from it alone

Commissioner

SAA Cargo and others

Transport / airline
freight services

The cargo divisions of a number of international airlines agreed on fuel surcharges and
increased charges for flights to South Africa

Amathole
Telecommuni-cation
Services

Cell C

Telecommunications /
mobile services

Amatole Telecommunication Services complained that its customers were not permitted by
Cell C to interconnect with its users, despite the fact it is a licensed service provider. Cell C
was charged with exclusionary conduct and price discrimination

Commissioner

Adcock Ingram Critical Care
(AICC) and Tiger Brands

Healthcare

Collusive tendering by dividing the private healthcare market between AICC and Fresenius
Kabi South Africa and coordinating their responses to state tenders for public hospital
supplies

Commissioner

Dismed Criticare and
Thusanong Health Care

Healthcare

Collusive tendering in that the respondents joined the cartel comprised of AICC and
Fresenius Kabi South Africa

Enforcement and
Exemptions division
Back row: Vincent
Motshwane; Toto Fiduli;
Itumeleng Lesofe; Dumisani
Hlongwane; Nicholas
Franczyk; Damian Finlayson;
Khotso Modise; Perceive
Maswanganyi and Avish
Kalicharan
Front row: Nompucuko
Nontombana; Nelly Sakata;
Vanessa Kruger; Thulani
Kunene; Nyadzani Mabasa
and Chantal Lavoie
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Merger review
Merger review aims to prevent the creation of market
power through amalgamation (mergers and acquisitions)

Table 4: Mergers notified to the Commission between 1 April 2007 and 31 March
2008

of businesses, and is one of the key pillars of competition
enforcement.
Small

Intermediate

Large

Total

The Commission’s Mergers and Acquisitions division saw

Carried over from previous year

0

29

14

43

a change of leadership during the 2007/08 financial year,

Cases notified

13

394

106

513

with Tembinkosi Bonakele appointed as divisional manager

Cases finalised2

10

370

100

480

following the resignation of Lizel Blignaut in August 2007.
The Competition Act requires merging parties to notify

The number of large merger notifications increased from

of increase than in the previous year; and small mergers

the Commission of a merger before it is implemented if it

94 in the previous year to 106 (approximately 13 percent);

increased significantly from 2 to 13 (approximately 88

meets the thresholds (related to turnover and asset values

intermediate mergers increased from 317 to 394

percent). The average turnaround time for merger

of the merging parties) stipulated by the Minister of Trade

(approximately 20 percent), which is a slightly higher rate

investigations was 30 days.

and Industry for intermediate and large mergers. Small
mergers may be notified voluntarily or upon the
Commission’s direction.
The Commission investigates all notified mergers to
determine whether the transaction is likely to lead to a
substantial prevention or lessening of competition, or will

Box 8: Recommendation to
increase merger thresholds
In February 2008, the Commission recommended

The regulatory net for merger notification has
widened and is currently ‘catching’ transactions that
would not have been notifiable at the time when the
thresholds were set. This is evidenced by the increase

have a negative effect on the public interest. Similarly, it

to the Minister of Trade and Industry that the merger

seeks to encourage a dynamic environment by evaluating

thresholds for intermediate and large mergers be

in merger notifications during this period. Based on

mergers which may result in innovation or efficiency gains,

increased.

current thresholds, it is predicted that the number
of notifications would almost double by 2010.

and hence contribute to a more competitive landscape.
The Commission has the authority to approve, approve

Current merger thresholds were set in 2001. Since

with conditions, or prohibit intermediate mergers. For large

then South Africa’s nominal GDP grew by 89 percent

Moreover 98 percent of mergers are approved

mergers the Commission makes a recommendation to the

and the market capitalisation on the Johannesburg

unconditionally or with conditions. A large number

Tribunal to approve, approve with conditions, or prohibit

Stock Exchange almost trebled. The consumer price

the merger.

index has increased on average by 5.3 percent yearon-year, a total of 43 percent between 2000 and

Overview of merger activity

2007.

of unproblematic mergers within the system place
an unnecessary regulatory burden on businesses and
a strain on the Commission’s already stretched
resources. Raising the merger thresholds would

During the period under review, a total of 513 mergers
were notified, 100 more than in the previous financial year.

The effect of this is that transactions that did not

decrease the number of notifications and ease

The increase in merger activity reflects the continuing

require notification in 2001, based on the real value

capacity constraints in the Commission. This would

growth of the South African economy. It can also be

of the threshold at that time, do require notification

enable greater attention to the problematic cases that

accounted for in part by the fact that the thresholds for the

in terms of the real value of the threshold in 2007.

require more sophisticated analyses.

notification of mergers have remained the same since 2001.
See Box 8.
2
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‘Finalised’ means the Commission took a decision on the merger, or the merger was withdrawn by the parties, or the Commission had no jurisdiction
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Table 5: Merger cases finalised between 1 April 2007 and 31 March 2008
Small

Intermediate

Large

Total

Approved

4

354

97

455

Approved subject to conditions

1

9

1

11

Prohibited

0

2

1

3

Withdrawn

5

3

1

9

No jurisdiction

0

2

0

2

Total cases finalised

10

370

100

480

Table 7: Comparison of the outcomes of
small, intermediate and large merger
reviews for the financial years 2004/05,
2005/06, 2006/07 and 2007/084
Merger review
cases

2004
/05

2005
/06

2006
/07

2007
/08

311

408

413

513

6

11

2

13

Intermediate

233

300

317

394

Notified
Small

Large

72

97

94

106

Table 6 gives a comparison of merger activities from 2004/05 to 2007/08, indicating how the number of cases finalised

Finalised

301

394

410

480

has increased, but the number of prohibited mergers has remained similar. Table 7 gives a further breakdown of these

Small

7

9

4

10

statistics.

Intermediate

229

284

315

370

Large

65

101

91

100

Approved

285

376

386

455

5

8

4

4

Intermediate

222

277

305

354

Large

58

91

77

97

Approved with
conditions

9

7

7

11

11
7
7

Small

0

0

0

1

Intermediate

2

7

3

9

Large

7

0

4

1

3
4
4

Prohibited

4

4

4

3

Small

1

1

0

0

Intermediate

3

0

0

2

Large

0

3

4

1

Withdrawn /
no jurisdiction

3

8

13

11

Table 6: Comparison of the outcome of merger reviews for the financial years
3
2005/06, 2006/07 and 2007/08

455
386
376

Approved
Approved with
conditions
Prohibited

11
13
8

Withdrawn/no
jurisdiction

480

Cases ﬁnalised

410
394

0

100
2005 - 2006

3

200

300

2006 - 2007

400
2007 - 2008

500

600

Small

Small

1

1

0

5

Intermediate

2

5

7

5

Large

0

2

6

1

4

The Commission’s financial year runs from 1 April to 31 March

The Commission’s financial year runs from 1 April to 31 March
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Merger activity by sector

Approvals subject to conditions

Two structural remedies and nine behavioural remedies

•

Consistent with the previous year, slightly more than a

The Commission recommended to the Tribunal the

were imposed or recommended, aimed at addressing

quarter of all merger activity considered by the

approval with conditions of one large merger and approved

concerns ranging from the prevention of collusion between

Commission occurred in the manufacturing sector. Most

with conditions nine intermediate mergers and one small

parties to ensuring supply of products to parties. Several

notified mergers in the manufacturing sector occurred

merger.

of these cases are discussed in detail elsewhere in this
report.

within the chemicals (17 percent) and equipment and
machinery (19 percent) sub-sectors.
•

Merger activity considered in the mining sector decreased
from 9 percent in the previous year to 6 percent.

•

In the real estate sector there was consistent economic

Table 8: Commission merger decisions by sector between 1 April 2007 and 31 March
2008

activity at 19 percent, down from 20 percent in the
previous year.
•

Mergers in the construction sector rose from 1 percent
Retail
Wholesale
7%
7%

in the previous year to 3 percent.
•

The services sector, including healthcare, accounted for
13 percent of notified mergers, up from 8 percent in the

t e
Other
1%

Real estate
19%

Transport
4%

last reporting period. See Table 8.

Mining
6%

Approvals
In the period under review the Commission unconditionally
approved (or recommended the unconditional approval

Construction
3%

Financial services
4%

Services
13%

of) 87 percent of the cases finalised. The figures
demonstrate that an overwhelming number of mergers are
unlikely to lead to the substantial lessening or prevention
of competition. Some of these mergers involve firms that

Telecommunications
2%
Agriculture
1%

are not competitors or the market shares of the parties
remain low after the merger.

28
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IT
5%
Manufacturing
27%

Hotels & restaurants
1%

Table 9: Mergers approved subject to conditions by the Commission or Tribunal between 1 April 2007 and 31 March 2008
Case / Product

Anti-competitive effect of merger

Commission’s intervention

Outcome

Transaction would have led to the vertically
integrated firm having the ability and incentive to
raise their rivals’ costs

Behavioural condition: merging parties
required to supply resins to rivals for 10 years

Tribunal imposed the condition
for 8 years

Structural links between the parties would facilitate
collusion in the decorative coatings market

Behavioural condition: no cross-directorships
allowed

Tribunal imposed the condition

Transaction would create one major supplier of
urea which might make it difficult for smaller
companies to source urea

Behavioural condition: merging parties
required to supply small firms

Tribunal imposed the condition

High market shares, high entry barriers and lack of
customers’ countervailing power would lead to
decreased competition, which could allow the
merging parties to change discounts and
discontinue Moeller products

Behavioural condition: merged entity must
keep any discount, rebates and bundling
structures and strategies of Circuit Breaker
Industries and Moeller products separate

Parties accepted Commission’s
conditions

In the Port Elizabeth region, the merger would
lead to the removal of an effective competitor and
could facilitate collusion

Structural condition: divestiture of Afrimat’s
quarry in Port Elizabeth region

Parties accepted Commission’s
conditions

High market shares and high barriers to entry
would lead to firm having the ability and incentive
to increase book prices

Behavioural condition: no integration of
business functions of the publishers without
notification to Commission

Parties accepted Commission’s
conditions

Effective competitors exist post merger. But many
small firms already lack access to a regular and
sustainable source of log supply, which reduces
their competitive effectiveness to the merging
parties

Behavioural condition: no further acquisitions
by York for 5 years without prior consent by
the Tribunal

Parties accepted Commission’s
conditions

High market share and removal of an effective
competitor

Behavioural condition: the parties will make
South Africa an export hub, create efficiencies
and jobs

Parties accepted Commission’s
conditions

Merging parties held 90% market share, increased
likelihood of coordinated conduct post-merger

Behavioural condition: price cap, increase in
production and sponsor entrance of a BEE
firm

Parties accepted Commission’s
conditions

The market in animal healthcare products was
highly concentrated and subject to high barriers to
entry

Structural condition: divestiture of licence for
one product, and cancellation of contracts
with various rivals subject to Commission
approval

Parties accepted Commission’s
conditions

Transaction resulted in technological barriers
Transaction
in technological
barriers
preventing orresulted
hindering
customers’ ability
to
preventing
or
hindering
customers’
ability
to
switch to other software products
switch to other software products

Behavioural condition: for 3 years all
Behavioural
for 3processes
years all required
technologicalcondition:
or electronic
technological
or
electronic
processes
required
to switch are made available to customers
to switch are made available to customers

Parties accepted Commission’s
Parties
accepted Commission’s
conditions
conditions

Large merger
Bayne Investments (PG Bison) / Clidet
451 (Woodchem)
Particle boards and resins
Intermediate mergers
Akzo Nobel / Imperial Chemical
Industries
Decorative coatings
Yara International ASA / Kemira
GrowHow Oyj
Fertilisers
Circuit Breaker Industries / Moeller
Electric

Electrical circuit breakers
Afrimat / Malan Holdings Trust
Aggregate stone products
Pearson / Harcourt Education
International
Publishing books
York Timber Organisation / Global
Forest Products / South African Plywood
Saw logs
Weir Group (Overseas Holdings) /
Warman Africa
Slurry pumps
Wheelabrator Allevard SA / Thor
Foundry
Metallic abrasives
Schering-Plough Corporation / Organon
BioSciences
Pharmaceuticals
Small merger
Small merger
Med-e-Mass / Mastermed
Med-e-Mass / Mastermed
Medical software
Medical software
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Prohibitions
Table 10: Mergers prohibited by the Commission between 1 April 2007 and 31 March 2008
Case

Anti-competitive effect of merger

Commission’s intervention

Outcome

The merger would reduce the number of competitors
from two to one in the steel sector

Recommended to the Tribunal
that the merger be prohibited

The merging parties withdrew the merger
application before it was heard

DPI Plastics / Incledon Cape

Concentrated market for plastic pipes. Collusion in the
market would raise entry barriers

Prohibition

Merger prohibited

Ferro Industrial Products /
Powder-Lak

The merger would reduce the number of competitors in
the powder coating market of the paint sector from three
to two

Prohibition

Merger prohibited

Large merger
Mittal Steel Company NV /
Duferco Steel Processing
Intermediate mergers

Mergers and
Acquisitions division
Standing: Francina
Yedwa; Thaba Mavhase;
Grace Mohamed;
Edwina Ramohlola;
Kwena Mahlakoana;
Grashum Mutizwa;
Xolela Nokele; Mogalane
Matsimela; Themba
Mahlangu; Viresh
Ranchod; Thabelo
Ravhugoni and Marlon
Dasarath
Sitting: Mfundo
Ngobese; Tholoana
Lejaha; Tembinkosi
Bonakele; Brenda
Maseko; Lindiwe
Khumalo and Linda
Chung
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Legal services, litigation and advisory opinions
The Commission requires and provides legal services to

litigation on behalf of the Commission. It is made up

referred to the Tribunal and there are legal or potential

fulfil its mandate through two divisions: Legal Services and

mainly of admitted attorneys and advocates. The

legal challenges to the Commission’s position. It also

Compliance.

Compliance division provides advisory opinions and

conducts cases that are being reviewed or appealed at the

clarifications to interested firms and other stakeholders.

Competition Appeal Court, High Court or Supreme Court
of Appeal. The division instructs external legal service

The Legal Services division was headed during the year
under review by chief legal counsel to the Commission,

The bulk of the Legal Services division’s work comes from

providers when it does not have capacity to handle a matter.

Mark Worsley. This division provides legal support and

the Commission’s mergers and enforcement activities. The

The table below provides an overview of the work of the

advice to the Commission, which includes conducting

division usually gets involved when cases are likely to be

Legal Services division during 2007/08.

Table 11: Legal Services division activities between 1 April 2007 and 31 March 2008
Activity

Sector / market

Case names

Contested mergers intermediate

Radio stations

Primedia & another / New Africa Investments Limited

Forestry

MTO / Boskor Saagmeule

Fertiliser

Yara International ASA / Kemira Growhow Oyj

Fertiliser

Mila Nutri / Afgri Operations & another

Healthcare

Netcare Hospital Group / Community Hospital Group

Steel

Mittal Steel / Duferco Steel Processing

Publishing

Naspers / Electronic Media Network & another

Chemicals

Botswana Ash & another v American Natural Soda Corporation & another

Retail - cigarettes

JT International SA v British America Tobacco SA

Dairy

Commission v Clover Industries & others

Bread

Commission & I I Mukaddam v Tiger Food Brands & Pioneer Foods

Beer

The Big Daddy’s Group v South African Breweries & others

Glass manufacturing

Reclamation Group v Consol and Nampak

Vehicle security

Tracetec v Netstar & others

Contested mergers large

Prosecuting enforcement cases in the
Tribunal

Commission v Assa Abloy & others
Air transport

Commission v Nationwide Airlines

Fertilisers

Nutri-flo v Sasol Chemical Industries

Silos

CTH Trading v Senwes

Steel

Barnes Fencing Industries v Allen Meshco & others

Forestry

New Scotland Sawmills v Komatiland Forests & others

Telecommunications

South African VANS Association & others v Telkom SA
Cell C v MTN

Healthcare

Commission v Adcock Ingram Critical Care & others
SM Pillay v Uitenhage and Despatch Independent Practitioners Association
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Table 11: Legal Services division activities between 1 April 2007 and 31 March 2008
Activity

Sector / market

Case names

Interim relief applications

CDs and DVDs

Replication Technology Group v Gallo Africa

Broiler industry

Country Bird & another v Astral Operations & another

Telecommunications

Telkom SA v Commission & another

Appearing before the Competition
Appeal Court, High Court and Supreme
Court of Appeal

Finalising consent agreements

African Media Entertainment v David Lewis NO & others
Forestry

TWK Agriculture v Commission & others

Vegetable oils

Seatex Investments v Commission & others

Conferencing and exhibitions

Johnnic Holdings & another v Competition Tribunal & others

Healthcare

Commission v South African Orthotic and Prosthetic Association
SM Pillay v Uitenhage and Despatch Independent Practitioners Association
Commission v Netcare Hospital Group % Community Hospital Group

Fasteners

Nedschroef Johannesburg v CBC Fasteners

Media & advertising

Commission v Media 24, Natal Witness & others

Bread & milling

Commission & I I Mukaddam v Tiger Consumer Brands

the Competition Appeal Court (Competition Appeal

Important legal precedents set
during 2007/2008
In South Africa, the field of competition law is a relatively

Court ruling in TWK Agriculture v Competition
Commission).
•

new one. Its development is due mainly to legal precedents

(Competition Appeal Court ruling in Africa Media

authorities as well as the High Court and Supreme Court
of Appeal. When it makes decisions or argues cases before

•

do not need to be made available to the merging parties

In the year under review, the following are some of the

(Competition Tribunal ruling in Netcare Hospital Group

legal precedents set:

(Competition Appeal Court ruling in TWK Agriculture
v Competition Commission).
•

and Community Hospital Group v Competition

Reviews of Commission decisions may not be taken
considered by the Competition Tribunal first

The principle of deference to the expertise of the

Notes taken by Commission investigators in the course
of investigating a merger are restricted information and

contributing to the growth of competition law jurisprudence.

directly to the Competition Appeal Court without being

Commission).
•

Appropriate calculation of an administrative penalty is
discussed at length in the report on the healthcare sector
(Competition Tribunal ruling in Netcare Hospital Group
and Community Hospital Group v Competition
Commission).

Commission or Tribunal will apply during reviews by

32

As shown in Table 11, in the year under review six matters
were settled between the Commission and the respondents.

Entertainment v Competition Tribunal).

the Tribunal and other courts, the Commission is

•

An intervener has the right to apply to the Competition
Appeal Court for a review of a Tribunal decision

being set through decisions of the specialised competition

Settlements and administrative
penalties
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All consent orders involved an agreement to stop the
conduct and an admission of guilt. Three also included
an administrative penalty, as set out in Table 12. Table 13
shows that administrative penalties levied by the
Commission have increased by 146 percent over the past
three financial years. More significantly, they have increased
as a percentage of the firms’ turnover. A penalty of 10
percent is the maximum allowed by the Act. The highest
set during the year under review was the penalty
representing 5.7 percent of turnover levied against Tiger
Brands for its role in fixing the price of bread.

Table 12: Administrative penalties levied by the Commission through consent orders
between 1 April 2007 and 31 March 2008
Name of party fined

Market /
sector

Description of conduct

Penalty
amount

Nedschroef Johannesburg

Fasteners

Nedschroef and CBC Fasteners agreed on the
kinds of fastening products they would each
produce

R 200,000

CBC Fasteners

R 300,000

Media 24
Natal Witness Printing and
Publishing Company
Lexshell 496 Investments

Media &
advertising

Implementation of a merger without
competition authority approval

R 100,000

Tiger Consumer Brands

Bread and
milling

Fixing the selling price of bread and agreeing on
the closure of bakeries

R 98,784,869

Table 13: Comparison of the total administrative penalties levied by the Commission
through consent orders for financial years 2005/06, 2006/07 and 2007/08

R 120,000,000

5

R 99,384,870

R 100,000,000
R 80,000,000
R 60,000,000
R 40,425,000

R 43,810,600

2005 - 2006

2006 - 2007

R 40,000,000
R 20,000,000
R0

5

2007 - 2008

The Commission’s financial year runs from 1 April to 31 March
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Advisory opinions and
clarifications

Table 14: Comparison of numbers of advisory opinions and clarifications issued by
the Commission for the financial years 6 of 2004/05, 2005/06, 2006/07 and 2007/08

Non-binding advisory opinions and clarifications are
provided by the Commission’s Compliance division on the
interpretation of the Act.
During the reporting period, the Commission received 45
requests for advisory opinions. Of these, 30 were on mergers
and acquisitions and the remaining 15 on prohibited
practices. Most opinions were issued at an average
turnaround time ranging between 20 and 30 days, and no
opinions were pending at the end of the period under
review. 28 requests came from legal firms, nine from inhouse legal advisors, two from consultants, two from
corporate advisors and four from government departments.
The Compliance team issued 53 written clarifications. No
clarifications were pending at the end of financial year.
SMEs received 13 of the clarifications, eight were provided
to companies and one to a trade union. The remainder
were requested by private individuals.

114

120
100

84

80
58

60

52

53
47

20
0
2004 - 2005

Table 14 shows that the number of opinions and
clarifications is decreasing, due in part to increased awareness
of the Act and the work of the competition authorities.

Legal Services
division
Back row: Paulina
Mfomme; Sipho
Mtombeni; Dumisani
Motsamai and Mark
Worsley
Front row: Tshepiso
Sepeng; Nene
Mateane; Wendy
Mkwananzi; Lulama
Potwana and Ngoako
Moropene
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45

40

2005 - 2006
Advisory opinions

6

46

The Commission’s financial year runs from 1 April to 31 March
competition commission south africa annual report 2007/08

2006 - 2007
Clariﬁcations

2007 - 2008

Policy and research
Zoutnet / Caxton, and these merger cases: MTO / Boskor,
Steinhoff Africa Holdings / BCM Holdings, Mittal /
Duferco Steel Processing, Neotel / Transtel and Ferro
Industries / Spectrum. Several of these cases are reported
on in detail elsewhere in the report.

Studies and projects
For the Presidency’s 15 year review, the Office of the
President asked the Commission to assess changes in
industrial structure, concentration and competitive dynamics
of selected key sectors.
Flowing from the Commission’s ongoing planning and
prioritisation efforts, and the Commission’s responsiveness
to concerns raised by other stakeholders, the Policy and
Research division has completed targeted research in the
areas of food, infrastructure and healthcare. Investigations
into possible anti-competitive behaviour have been launched
by the Commission as a result of information uncovered
during these studies. They are reported on in greater detail
in their respective sections of the annual report.
The Policy and Research division, under chief economist

capacity over the year, doubling its complement of

Simon Roberts, has made important contributions over

economists, demonstrating that rigorous economic analysis

2007/08 to key initiatives of the Commission. It has focused

of anti-competitive behaviour is a Commission priority.

Submissions on policy matters
to Parliament and others

on providing rigorous economic analysis that contributes

The division has also coordinated the work to improve the

Ten comments on policy, legislation and regulations affecting

to effective decision-making in the Commission. Comprised

Commission’s knowledge management practices. It is

competition matters were made in the 2007/08 financial

of economists and the staff of the Commission’s information

involved in increasing understanding and awareness of

year, including:

and resource centre, the division is responsible for economic

competition economics, both in and outside the

•

analysis and assessment of complex cases, whether mergers

Commission.

or possible prohibited practices, with staff working as
members of inter-divisional teams. The division also plays
a leading role in the studies undertaken by the Commission
into the structure and behaviour of firms in identified
sectors. Over the past financial year, such studies have led
to several investigations being initiated by the Commission.

•

During the period under review, the Policy and Research

•
•

Comment to Department of Trade and Industry on
issues with Swaziland – South Africa sugar trade

decisions turned on economic analysis provided by the
Cell C / MTN, Commissioner / Reclamation Group and

Engagement with Department of Minerals and Energy
on electricity pricing policy

division provided substantive economic assessment for at
least 79 cases. Important cases where the Commission’s

Submissions to parliamentary portfolio committee on
the Broadband Infraco Bill

Economic analysis for cases

division include the following prohibited practice cases:
The division has also steadily continued to build its own

Submissions to Icasa on market definitions for end-toend leased lines and mobile call termination

•

Comment to Department of Trade and Industry on
export tax discussion document
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•

Comments to National Treasury on policy processes for

Information and resource centre

telecommunications and rail.

The information and resource centre (IRC) provides an

resources through training and in fulfilling requests for

information service to the Commission and Tribunal,

information. The IRC assisted with 393 requests for

Economic policy briefings

maintains subscriptions for relevant external information

information and orientated 73 staff members on the IRC

Ten briefings were prepared for internal circulation in the

resources and is also responsible for purchasing new

resources and online databases. It loaned 864 publications

Commission covering various topics, including:

publications. It actively promotes the utilisation of these

during this period and added 28 new titles to the catalogue.

•

Bid-rigging in construction

•

Developmental state and competition policy regime

•

The implications of the ‘post-Chicago synthesis’ for
competition policy in a small developing country

•

Import parity pricing.

Improving knowledge
management practices in the
Commission
Knowledge management means constantly improving the
Commission’s ability to preserve and make information
and intellectual capital more accessible as well as enabling
their intelligent and insightful use. Effectively mobilising
all knowledge resources should enhance the Commission’s
capability to discharge its mandate.
During the 2007/08 year the current level and prevailing
practices were assessed through a survey of all staff and
follow-up workshops. A detailed exercise in mapping the
main workflows in the Commission identified the
information collected and the analysis undertaken at each
stage. This improved awareness of the knowledge gathered,
shared and stored in the Commission, and provided the
key building foundation for investing in upgraded IT systems
in the coming year.

Policy and Research division
Back row: Bhekithemba Dlamini; Rakgole Mokolo; Simon Roberts; Liberty Mncube; Ryan Hawthorne

The Commission appointed a knowledge management coordinator in March 2008 who will engage with all divisions
to enact the knowledge and information goals of the

and Andrew Swan
Front row: Junior Khumalo; Annalee van Reenen; Reuben Machethe; Herminah Rasetlola; Sunel
Grimbeek; Liesl van der Rede; Mapato Rakhudu; Reena das Nair and Kate Morris

Commission’s strategy, and to transform the recommendations arising from the review into practice.
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Stakeholder management, advocacy and awareness
The Compliance division coordinates the Commission’s

Government

Both the President’s State of the Nation address and the

stakeholder management, advocacy and awareness

A highlight this year was the public sector consultative

annual budget speech by the Minister of Finance referred

programmes, often through inter-divisional teams. Advocacy

forum targeting senior officials from government

to the Commission’s activities in respect of consumer

is undertaken by all the Commission’s divisions when they

departments, regulatory authorities, state owned enterprises

protection and encouraging a culture of better governance

influence how policy and law is formulated so that it is

and the presidency. The aim was to increase awareness of

and compliance among South Africa’s business community.

consistent with sound competition principles. Maintaining

the Competition Commission’s work particularly in relation

effective stakeholder relations is integral to each division’s

to policy and legislation emanating from government

work and part 1 of this annual report has highlighted many

departments. The event also emphasised the role of

relevant activities.

competition in government’s National Industrial Policy
Framework and Asgi-SA and in promoting growth in the

The Compliance division was led by Tembinkosi Bonakele

economy. Twenty-six government officials attended.

until 14 August 2007, when he became the head of the

Business
Most of the Commission’s interaction with business is
aimed at promoting compliance with the Competition Act.
Engagement mainly occurs through industry, trade and
professional associations and, where necessary, through
direct contact with firms. The Commission participated

Mergers and Acquisitions division. Since his reassignment,

Over the past financial year, the Commission has also had

Mziwodumo Rubushe has been acting as divisional

interactions with the Departments of Trade and Industry,

manager.

Public Enterprises, Health, Minerals and Energy and the
National Treasury relating to competition matters.

in seven events targeting the business community, including
a presentation to the Tshwane Chamber of Commerce,
attended by 25 business executives and one to the National
Association of Real Estate Agencies, attended by 135
business owners.
The Commission is particularly concerned with augmenting
awareness of competition law among small and medium
enterprises (SMEs) since they are often at the receiving
end of anti-competitive practices perpetrated by big
companies. At the SME Mining Conference in Polokwane,
attended by 72 entrepreneurs, the Commission highlighted
the provisions of the Act that advance SME development.

Trade unions
Training for trade union officials and a consultative forum
formed part of the Commission’s activities designed to
encourage unions to participate in it’s proceedings. See
Box 6 for more information.

Consumers
The Commission is a member of the Consumer Protection
Work Group, co-ordinated by the Department of Trade
and Industry with the aim of educating consumers about
their rights. The Commission participated in 13 Consumer
Protection Work Group workshops in five provinces,
Some of the delegates attending the public sector consultative forum

reaching 869 consumers. 5,000 consumer guides to the
Act were printed in English, seSotho, isiZulu, sePedi and
isiXhosa and approximately 3,000 have been distributed.
competition commission south africa annual report 2007/08
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The Commission strengthened its relationship with the

Law Committee of the Law Society of the Northern

arouse the interest of university students in specialising as

National Consumer Forum and the Commissioner

Provinces. During the year under review, the Commission

competition law practitioners. 280 students were reached

addressed its World Consumer Rights Day Conference.

met with them four times.

and the University of Fort Hare and Walter Sisulu
University now offer a course on competition law.

Members of the Commission attended the International
Consumer Law Conference and participated in the

The Commission also made contact with Advocates for

exhibition hosted by the Department of Trade and Industry.

Transformation focusing on the new Legal Practitioners

In May 2007, the first Annual Competition Law, Economics

The aim of the conference was to review the Consumer

Bill.

and Policy Conference was hosted jointly by the Mandela
Institute at the Wits Law School, the Competition

Protection Bill. 120 consumers visited the Commission’s
exhibition stand.

Institutions of higher learning
The Commission gave presentations during May 2007 at

Parliament

three institutions of higher learning: University of Limpopo,

The Commission made presentations to the parliamentary

Fort Hare University, and Walter Sisulu University. The

portfolio committee on trade and industry in October 2007

aim was to present information about competition law and

Commission and the Competition Tribunal. It was attended
by over 100 practitioners, academics, competition authority
employees as well as members of the media. Commission
staff gave a number of papers and chaired several sessions
of the conference.

and February 2008 and appeared before parliamentary
portfolio committees in support of the Co-operative Banks
Bill and the Broadband Infraco Bill.

Regulators
A memorandum of understanding between the Commission
and the National Liquor Authority was concluded. Three
exhibitions were held with the National Credit Regulator
and the National Energy Regulator of South Africa. The
Commissioner has taken part in two round table discussions
on the regulatory framework convened by the President’s
Office. The forum aims to create consistency and support
best practice in the operations and governance of regulators.
The Commission also attended the South African
Regulators Forum’s meeting.

Competition lawyers
Most of the Commission’s advisory opinions are issued to
law firms and some of its interactions with business are
conducted through legal practitioners. The Commission
encourages more legal practitioners who have not
historically been involved with competition law and the
proceedings of the competition authorities. It held four
workshops to achieve this in Rustenburg, Kimberly, Nelspruit
and Polokwane. A total of 42 lawyers were engaged.

Compliance division
Back row: Lazarus Morebodi; Itebogeng Palare; Sipho Mtombeni; Sbusiso Madonsela and
Bukhosibakhe Majenge

The Commission has ongoing contact with the Competition

Front row: Molebogeng Taunyane; Elphus Mudimeli; Zibuyile Jafta; Keitumetse Letebele;
Tebello Sello; Mziwodumo Rubushe and Mulalo Shandukani
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Communication
Media relations

mainly in the business section of newspapers, but this

In the period under review, 15 media releases were issued

The Commission adopted a Communication Strategy and

changed with the high-profile cases that the Commission

by the Commission. These and other media outreach

appointed FD Beachhead, a media and investor relations

undertook, such as the search and seizure operations at

activities generated 3,652 print articles and 2,002 broadcast

firm, to assist with all media-related aspects of its work.

the New Reclamation Group, the banking enquiry, and

items. Commission staff gave 41 television and 97 radio

The Commission’s role and activities have enjoyed better

the bread, milk and pharmaceutical industry cartel-busting

interviews. The Commission used African language radio

understanding and broader coverage by the media. In

investigations.

stations a great deal more this year, reaching potential
audiences of well over 14 million listeners. The bulk of the

previous years competition-related matters were reported

media coverage was balanced and positive. Negative

Table 15: Media coverage of the Commission by month for 1 April 2007 – 31 March 2008

coverage related to penalties for price fixing not being
harsh enough – or directly benefiting those most sorely
affected by the anti-competitive activity – and concern that

99

Mar-08

251

the Commission is not protecting small businesses

Feb-08

418

340
275

Jan-08
105

Dec-07

adequately.

338

Publications

231
431

Nov-07
93

Oct-07

285
128

Sep-07

356
134

Jul-07

315

102

Jun-07

285

53

May-07

252
102

Apr-07
0

50

100

291

150

200
Print media

250

300

350

to communicate with external stakeholders.

Table 16: Commission publications
printed between 1 April 2007 and 31
March 2008

232

62

Aug-07

The Commission issues and distributes various publications
476

400

450

500

Publication

Number printed

Competition News

2,500

Consumer guide to
competition law

5,000

Pocket guide to the
Competition Act of 1990

5,000

Broadcast media

Improving communication with
staff members
A discussion forum called Kom Praat Saam was introduced
in the Commission as a means for sharing information on
cases and projects. Five Forums were organised and each
was attended by an average of 33 staff members. Other
team building initiatives included seven staff meetings and
happy hours; an award ceremony/year-end function;
participation in the Cell C Take a Girl Child to Work Day
and in the Discovery Walk the Talk race. The Commission’s
weekly internal electronic newsletter Newsflash was
converted into a monthly newsletter. Ten Newsflashes were
issued in the period under review.
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International relationships
International competition
forums
International Competition Network
The International Competition Network (ICN) is a
worldwide, virtual network of government competition
authorities, which exchange ideas and best-practice mainly
through electronic communication. The Commission
participates in a number of the ICN’s working groups and
the Chair of the Competition Tribunal, David Lewis,
continues in his role as ICN vice chairperson for outreach.
Senior representatives of the Commission attended the
annual ICN conference held in Moscow from 29 May to
2 June 2007 and participated in working group discussions.
The Commission also made written submissions to the
ICN about its strategic planning and prioritising exercises.

Organisation for Economic Cooperation and
Development
South Africa is not a member of the Organisation for
Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD), but
the competition authorities participate in the OECD’s
Competition Committee. Between January 2006 and 2008,
the South African competition authorities were one of only
nine non-member states to be granted observer status in
the OECD Competition Committee. In October 2007,
this status was renewed for a further two year period ending
in January 2010.
The OECD Competition Committee holds three working
sessions each year on topics of current importance.
Commission staff participated in all three meetings, and
presented papers on the following:
• Competition restrictions in the legal profession
• How to provide effective guidance to business on
monopolisation/abuse of dominance
• Potential pro-competitive and anti-competitive aspects
of trade/business associations
• Managing complex merger cases
• The Commission’s annual report
• Anti-trust issues involving minority shareholding and
interlocking directorates
• Techniques for presenting complex economic theories
to judges.
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The Commission also participated in roundtable discussions
on several other competition matters raised at the OECD
such as competition in the taxi industry.

United Nations Conference on Trade and
Development
The United Nations Conference on Trade and
Development (UNCTAD) promotes the integration of
developing countries into the world economy. The
Commission participates in UNCTAD’s annual
intergovernmental expert meeting on competition law and
policy. The Commission attended the eighth session of this
forum in July 2007. During the meeting competition policy
issues and the exercise of intellectual property rights were
discussed, emphasising the importance of networking with
other competition authorities from developing nations.

Interaction with African
countries
Commission meeting with African
competition authorities
In June 2007, the Commission held a one day workshop
with 18 delegates from nine African countries who attended
a training workshop on mergers. The meeting addressed
improving cooperation between the competition authorities
of the region, and building the capacity of newly established
authorities. Delegates from Botswana, Kenya, Malawi,
Mozambique, Namibia, Nigeria, Tanzania, Zambia and
Zimbabwe took part.

African countries drafting competition law
The Commission hosted delegates from the Nigerian
Consumer Council in March 2007, and officials from the
Ministry of Trade and Industry, Botswana in November
2007. In both countries, there is a move to enacting
competition legislation. Delegates were on a ‘fact finding’
exercise with the objective of determining the best practice
in setting up their new competition authorities.

Donor agencies
United States Agency for International
Development
During 2007/08, the United States Agency for International
Development (USAID) provided funding to support the
Commission’s consolidation as an effective competition
authority. In the period under review, a study trip was
undertaken by four Commission staff to the US Federal
Trade Commission (FTC) and US Department of Justice
(DOJ) to build the Commission’s enforcement capacity.
The DOJ held a workshop on bid-rigging for Commission
staff in May 2007 and an intensive training workshop on
merger analysis was jointly funded by USAID in June 2007.

Fordham Law School
The Commission shared its experience of strategic planning
and prioritising for a competition agency at a seminar held
in September 2007 at the Fordham Law School in New
York, USA. It also attended the Fordham Competition
Law and Policy Conference held immediately afterwards.

SADC Trade Negotiation Forum
The Commission regularly attended the SADC Trade
Negotiations Forum’s (TNF) meetings on competition policy
and law during this financial year. The TNF is the
negotiating arm of SADC, and as such has regard to
competition matters. A meeting in Zambia in April 2007
considered a report concerning customs barriers, while
one in Mozambique in September 2007 gave feedback on
the recently drafted Mozambican competition framework.
In March 2008, the draft declaration on competition and
consumer policy for SADC was tabled and the meeting
recommended that it be approved by the Council of
Ministers at their meeting in June 2008.
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Officials from Botswana’s Ministry of Trade
and Industry

Corporate services
The Corporate Services division is headed by Nellie Pillay

during 2007/08. Components of the framework include

An exhaustive job-grading and pay benchmarking exercise

who is also the chief financial officer. During the year under

guaranteed pay, incentive bonuses, perfor mance

was completed in January 2007. Following this, the

review, the division reviewed the human resources policies

management, learning and development and the work

Commission made recommendations to the Department

fundamental to the smooth running of the Commission.

environment.

of Trade and Industry in August 2007 for revised salary

It also drove the implementation of the strategic plan and

scales that are market related.

ensured an enabling and supportive environment for staff

The framework acknowledges that attracting, retaining

and divisions to function optimally.

and motivating competent and professional staff will ensure
the long-term sustainability of the Commission and is a
priority in an environment characterised by a scarcity of

Human resources policy

Performance management review
A review of the Commission’s performance management
policy was completed in this financial year. In the next

skills.

financial year, employees and managers will be trained to

Total reward framework

Remuneration policy

use the revised performance management system which

The total reward framework confirms that the Commission’s

A draft remuneration policy – a key component of the

aims to link employee performance to the Commission’s

approach to rewarding staff incorporates both financial

Commission’s total reward framework – was developed

objectives and strategy and encourage and reward superior

and non-financial benefits. It was adopted and implemented

during the year under review. It was adopted in May 2008.

performance.

Human resources
Table 17: Commission staff profile as at 31 March 2008
Category7

Mergers &

Enforcement &

Legal

Compliance

Acquisitions

Exemptions

Services

Policy &

Corporate

Commissioner’s

Research

Services

Office

Total

Management

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

7

Professional staff

16

13

6

7

12

19

2

75

Administrators

2

2

2

1

2

2

1

12

Consultants

0

3

0

0

0

0

0

3

Graduate trainees

4

5

1

3

3

3

0

19

Total staff

23

24

10

12

18

25

4

116

7 Categories

of staff are defined broadly as follows: management refers to the heads of divisions; professional staff comprises employees who have a tertiary qualification and constitute the core of the Commission's

technical expertise in competition matters; administrators are staff playing supportive clerical, financial and secretarial roles; consultants are contracted on a short- or long-term basis to provide specialist expertise to
the Commission; and graduate trainees are newly graduated individuals who are gaining work experience in the Commission.

competition commission south africa annual report 2007/08

41

Table 18: Commission staff profile as a percentage of total staff, as at 31 March
2008

the financial year. For the period under review 77 employees
qualified for the bonus. The average percentage of bonuses
paid out was 14.03 percent, up marginally from 13.92

6%

16%

percent in 2006/07.

Employee welfare

3%
10%

Management

The Commission has contracted the Independent

Professional staff

Counselling and Advisory Service (ICAS), a provider of

Administrators

wellbeing and employee assistance programmes, to make

Consultants

available free, confidential counselling and support services

Graduate trainees

to Commission staff.
The Commission hosts an annual health day where a
variety of voluntary tests are offered and where staff can

65%

learn about activities to help alleviate stress. As part of
employee wellbeing, the Commission also supports an in-

Employment equity

house football team, national HIV/AIDS awareness day

A strong focus during the year under review was to employ skilled females who now comprise 42 percent of the total

is celebrated annually and many initiatives occur throughout

workforce, which is in line with targets set by government. An employment equity report is due in 2008 and will be

the year providing information and a supportive

submitted in October.

environment. The Commission’s medical aid provider also
has a comprehensive HIV/AIDS management programme

Table 19: Employment equity (by race) of Commission staff as at 31 March 2008
9%

offered to individuals living with this disease.

Skills development

4%

The Competition Commission funds both formal and
informal training and educational interventions. For the
year under review R920,265 was spent on skills

16%

African

development.

White
Coloured
Asian

Training in competition law and economics is a priority
for the Commission. It organised 29 seminars on key
concepts in competition economics and their application
in major cases. It also hosted five seminars run by outside

71%

presenters on topical issues such as legislative and industry
developments in the medical schemes environment. 11 staff
members studied for and received a competition law
certificate from the Mandela Institute at Wits University.

New appointments
There were 36 appointments and 28 resignations during
the year under review.

The graduate trainee programme
The Commission streamlined its one-year graduate trainee
programme this year. It equips newly graduated individuals
in the fields of law and economics with relevant skills and
provides them with exposure to the work environment. It
42

also provides a pool of groomed talent from which the
Commission can fill junior positions within the organisation.

International expertise was also harnessed to develop

In the year under review, 14 new graduates were appointed,

advanced skills. The US Federal Trade Commission

while five continued from 2006/07.

facilitated an intensive short course on quantitative
techniques for competition analysis and Florence University

Employee performance

professor of economics, Massimo Motta, ran one on the

Employees who have met or exceeded set objectives, qualify

advanced competition economics of abuse of dominance

for a performance bonus, which is paid out at the end of

and vertical restrictive practices. Three courses were
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facilitated by competition authorities from the UK, USA,

Information technology

will form an integral component of the organisation’s

the European Commission and Australia. They covered

The Commission’s IT systems management team is

knowledge management efforts.

bid-rigging, collusive tendering and merger analysis. They

responsible for managing, maintaining and supporting

are reported on in more detail in Box 4 and Box 7.

internal IT services and networks. Key areas of responsibility

In compliance with the Promotion of Access to Information

include managing and maintaining various internal

Act of 2000, the Commission made the records of 26 cases

Training on subjects other than competition law and

networks; consultation and procurement of IT services

available to the public on request. Access was denied in

economics were provided mainly by external service

and supplies; providing in-house IT support to staff; and

one instance due to the confidential nature of the

providers. They included courses on legislative writing,

maintaining IT security standards including data continuity

information requested. Average turnaround time to meet

money management and business writing skills. The

and integrity.

a request was improved from six business days to 4.52 days.

computer programmes such as Word 2007 and Excel 2007,

The Commission’s knowledge management activities are

and 31 employees were trained.

also supported by the team, which provides, maintains and

Security and facilities
management

Commission also focused on improving proficiency in using

upgrades the required IT hardware, software and
14 delegates from five divisions of the Commission also

architecture. In this regard, the process of upgrading the

attended competition law summer schools held by the

Commission’s share point portal server and case

European Commission at Cambridge University, UK and

management system began in the year under review.

Trier, Germany. These summer schools expose Commission

R341,000 was also spent upgrading computers.

During the period under review, the Commission performed
various security-related functions, including routine debugging of offices, management of access control to the
building and security vetting. The Commission completed

employees to international best practice. The cost was

99 record checks and submitted 53 vetting forms to the

R408,218.

National Intelligence Agency. The increasing staff

The Commission also provides study loans to employees
wishing to improve their qualifications through formal
courses at academic institutions, and if they pass, the loans

Registry

complement is putting pressure on the existing Commission’s

The total number of new cases registered, scanned, filed

office space, which will be addressed in the forthcoming

and archived increased from 703 in the previous year to

financial year.

750 in the period under review. The Commission’s records

are converted to bursaries. Employees then commit to an
agreed amount of time in service. In the period under
review, the Commission granted loans to 13 staff members
to the value of R220,936. Academic courses undertaken
through the study loan scheme included a postgraduate
diploma in compliance, a bachelor’s degree in business
information systems and five masters’ degrees, two in
economics and three in business administration.

Labour relations
The Commission has a collective agreement with the Public
Service Association which represented more than 50 percent
of the workforce until December 2007.
During the year under review the Commission dealt with
two disciplinary hearings. One of these hearings resulted
in the dismissal of an employee for insubordination. This
matter has been referred to the CCMA by the affected
employee and is pending. The Commission also issued
three written warnings and addressed three grievances.

Corporate Services division
Standing: Binu Idiculla; Mmboswobeni Nkhumeleni; Leonard Morapedi; Gavin Williams; Nomsa
Zilindile; Elmarie Wiehahn; Abram Tiro; Innocent Tau; Suzan Kganyago; Johnny Wilke; Mpho
Sehoole; Brian Moeng; Bellah Kekana; Wilfred Steenkamp and Pinky Nxumalo
Sitting: Kelebogile Mekoa; Mittah Sibanyoni; Karen Hudson; Charlie Ndlovu; Nellie Pillay; Layla
Sadick; Rosemary van der Walt and Rhime Letsoalo
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Corporate governance
Structures and decision-making
The Competition Commission
The powers of the Competition Commission are vested in
the Commissioner who, as chief executive officer, is directly
responsible to the Minister of Trade and Industry. The
Commissioner is responsible for the general administration
of the Commission and for performing any functions
assigned to it in terms of the Competition Act.
For purposes of decision making on cases, the Commission
consists of the Commissioner and the Deputy
Commissioner.

The executive committee
The Commission has an executive committee under the
chairpersonship of the Commissioner. The committee
meets weekly and held 48 meetings in the period under
review. The committee makes decisions on mergers and

Executive committee

acquisitions, enforcement and exemptions, and approves

Standing: Mziwodumo Rubushe; Johan Dreyer; Simon Roberts; Thulani Kunene and Mark Worsley

advisory opinions. It also addresses strategic planning,

Sitting: Nellie Pillay; Shan Ramburuth and Tembinkosi Bonakele

policy matters and approves major capital expenditure for
the Commissioner’s discretion. The Commission secretary
advises the committee on compliance with relevant
legislation and regulations.

Oversight responsibilities

Table 20: The executive committee as at 31 March 2008
Name of member

Position

Date of appointment

Shan Ramburuth

Commissioner

26 July 2006

Thulani Kunene

Manager: Enforcement
and Exemptions
Acting Deputy
Commissioner

1 September 2005

Lizel Blignaut

Manager: Mergers and
Acquisitions

1 February 2004

Mark Worsley

Chief legal counsel
Manager: Legal Services

1 September 2005

Tembinkosi Bonakele

Manager: Compliance
Manager: Mergers and
Acquisitions

1 February 2007
14 August 2007

Mziwodumo Rubushe

Acting Manager:
Compliance

14 August 2007

Simon Roberts

Chief Economist
Manager: Policy and
Research

1 November 2006

The audit committee
The audit committee, established in March 2000, supports
the Commission’s executive committee in fulfilling its
oversight responsibilities relating to internal controls, risk
management, financial management and compliance with
laws and regulations.
An independent non-executive member chairs the
committee and both the internal and external auditors
have unrestricted access to the committee. The audit
committee held five meetings in the reporting period. It
reviewed quarterly internal audit reports, internal and
external audit plans, the risk assessment plan, the fraud
prevention plan and financial statements for the period

Date of termination

22 June 2006
13 August 2007

13 August 2007
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Table 20: The executive committee as at 31 March 2008

payroll is paid monthly to the South African Revenue
Service. This gets distributed to the relevant Setas which

Name of member

Position

Date of appointment

Johan Dreyer

Company Secretary
Acting Manager:
Corporate Services

1 August 1999
1 September 2006

Chief financial Officer
Manager: Corporate
Services

1 August 2007

Nellie Pillay

Date of termination

promote training in various disciplines. Employers are able
to claim back part of the skills levies paid as a skills grant.

31 July 2007

The skills grant received for 2006/07 was R119 696.

Employment Equity Act, 1998
Because the Commission has fewer than 150 employees,
it is obliged to submit an employment equity report every
alternate year. The next report is due in October 2008.

ending 31 March 2008. The audit committee also reviewed

is responsible for proactively identifying, evaluating, and

the audit charter during the period under review.

managing and monitoring all significant risks faced by the
Commission. Some of the significant risks to which the

Compensation for Occupational Injuries and
Diseases Act, 1993

Until the end of May 2007, the audit committee was

Commission was exposed in the period under review

A return of earnings was submitted in March 2008. This

chaired by Humphrey Buthelezi. Nonku Tshombe took

include operational, technological and regulatory risks.

provides an estimate cost of possible claims that can be

over the role of chairperson from June 2007. Other

lodged against the Compensation Fund in terms of this

members of the committee were Jeff Rapoo, Jocelyn

A revised risk management strategy was drawn up during

Armstrong and Maleshini Naidoo. The Commission was

2007 with a view to safeguarding the Commission’s staff,

represented by Johan Dreyer.

assets, corporate credibility and reputation.

Internal auditors

Compliance with legislation

Unemployment Insurance Fund were paid over on a
monthly basis. These contributions consist of an employee

Public Finance Management Act, 1999, and
Treasury Regulations

contribution of 1 percent and an employer contribution

out by Ngubane & Co.

Internal financial controls

In accordance with the PFMA and Treasury regulations,
the Commission submitted the following documents to the

Occupational Health and Safety Act, 1993

The Commission has policies, procedures and systems
designed to provide reasonable assurance of the integrity

Department of Trade and Industry for approval in the

and reliability of its financial statements, and to adequately

period under review:

protect, verify and maintain accountability for its assets.

•

qualified and trained personnel within a system

•

Request to retain surpluses generated as at 31 March
2008

characterised by checks and balances. The effectiveness of
internal financial controls is monitored by Commission

Memorandum of agreement with the Department of
Trade and Industry

These internal financial controls are implemented by

•

Quarterly reports on the Commission’s expenditure,

management, as well as by the internal auditors. All

budget variance, activities and performance against set

significant findings are reported to the audit committee

targets

and Commissioner.

•
•

The Commissioner and the external and internal auditors
are not aware of any material breakdown in the functioning

of 1 percent, capped at a maximum of R124.78.

During the year under review the Commission took all
reasonable precautions to ensure a safe working environment
and conducted its business with due regard for
environmental issues.

Income Tax Act, 1962
The South African Revenue Service exempted the
Commission in terms of section 10(1)(A)(i) of the Income
Tax Act, 1962.

Monthly expenditure reports
Strategic plan and budget for the three year period 2007

Levies and taxes

to 2010.
The Commission has registered for, and met its obligations

of these internal controls and systems in the period under

Skills Development Act, 1998

review.

The Commission submitted the annual Training Report

•

Skills development levy

and the annual Workplace Skills Plan in June 2007.

•

Workmen’s compensation

•

Unemployment Insurance Fund

•

Pay-as-you-earn (PAYE).

Risk management
With the assistance of the internal auditors, management

Skills Development Levies Act, 1999
A skills development levy equal to 1 percent of the total
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Unemployment Insurance Act, 2001
For the period under review all contributions to the

The internal auditing function for the Commission is
outsourced, and in the period under review was carried

Act.
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY OF THE ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY
The Accounting Authority is responsible for the preparation, integrity and fair presentation of the financial statements
of the Competition Commission. The financial statements presented on pages 60 to 84 have been prepared in accordance
with South African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting Practice including any interpretations of such
Statements issued by the Accounting Practices Board, with the effective Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting
Practice issued by the Accounting Standards Board to the extent as indicated in the accounting policies, and include
amounts based on judgements and estimates made by management. The Accounting Authority also prepared the other
information included in the annual report and is responsible for both its accuracy and its consistency with the financial
statements.
The going concern basis has been adopted in preparing the financial statements. The Accounting Authority has no
reason to believe that the Commission will not be a going concern in the foreseeable future based on forecasts and
available cash resources. These financial statements support the viability of the Commission.
The financial statements have been audited by the Auditor-General, which was given unrestricted access to all financial
records and related data including minutes of meetings of the Executive Committee. The Accounting Authority believes
that all representations made to the Auditor-General during his audit are valid and appropriate.
The audit report of the Auditor General is presented on page 52 to 54. The financial statements were submitted for
auditing on 30 May 2008. The financial statements were revised in respect of the audit findings and the final approved
financial statements were signed on 24 June 2008.

________________
MR M RAMBURUTH
ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY
24 June 2008

com
p e t i t i o n c o mcommission
m i s s i o n s o u south
t h a f r i africa
c a a n nannual
u a l r e p report
o r t 2 0 02007/08
7/08
competition

49

REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

For the year ended 31 March 2008

REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE OF THE COMPETITION COMMISSION
We are pleased to present our report for the financial year ended 31 March 2008.

Audit Committee Members and Attendance:
The Audit Committee of the Competition Commission (the “Committee”) consists of the members listed hereunder and is required
to meet 4 times per annum as per its approved terms of reference. During the year under review 5 meetings were held.

Name of member
H. Buthelezi (Chairperson) (resigned 8th June 2007)
N. Tshombe (Chairperson) (from 27 th June 2007)

Number of meetings
attended
1
5

J. Armstrong (appointed 1st May 2007)

5

J. Rapoo (appointed 1st May 2007)

3

M. Naidoo (appointed 1 September 2007)

3

J. Dreyer (Company Secretary & Acting CFO 27/07/06 - 31/07/07)

5

Ms Nellie Pillay, who was appointed the Head of Finance from 01/05/07 and as the Chief Financial Officer from 01/08/07, is
an invitee to the Audit Committee meetings. She attended 5 meetings during the year under review.
The Committee’s meetings have regularly included the internal auditors and representatives from the Auditor General’s Office.

Audit Committee Responsibility
The Committee reports that it has adopted appropriate formal terms of reference as its charter. The Committee, also reports that
it has regulated its affairs in compliance with this charter and has discharged all its responsibilities as contained therein.
Accordingly, the Committee operates in accordance with the terms of the said charter and is satisfied that it has discharged its
responsibilities in compliance therewith.
The Committee further reports that it has complied with its responsibilities arising from section 51(1) (a) of the Public Finance
Management Act (the “PFMA”) and Treasury Regulation 27.1 of the Treasury Regulations.

The effectiveness of internal control
The system of control is designed to provide cost effective assurance that assets are safeguarded; and that liabilities and working
capital are efficiently managed. In line with the PFMA and the King II Report on Corporate Governance requirements, Internal
Audit provides the Committee and management with assurance that the internal controls are appropriate and effective.
This is achieved by means of the risk management process, as well as the identification of corrective actions and suggested
enhancements to the controls and processes.
During the year under review, there was no report of significant or material non compliance with prescribed policies and procedures
(either by qualification or emphasis of matter or both) from any of the various reports obtained from of the Internal Auditors, the
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management letter of the Auditor-General, as well as the Audit Report on the Annual Financial Statements. Accordingly, the
Committee reports that the system of internal control for the year under review was efficient and effective.

The quality of in year management and monthly/quarterly reports submitted in terms of the PFMA
and the Division of Revenue Act
The Audit Committee is satisfied with the content and quality of monthly and quarterly reports prepared and issued by the Accounting
Officer of the Commission during the year under review.

Evaluation of Financial Statements
The Audit Committee has:
•

reviewed and discussed the audited annual financial statements to be included in the annual report, with the Auditor-General and
the Accounting Authority;

•

reviewed the Auditor-General’s management letter and management’s response thereto;

•

reviewed changes in accounting policies and practices; and

•

reviewed all adjustments resulting from the audit.

The Audit Committee would like to highlight the fact that the Competition Commission is dependent on both the approval by
National Treasury of the retention of its accumulated surplus, as well as its annual grants from the Department of Trade and
Industry for its going concern status.
The Audit Committee concurs and accepts the Auditor-General’s conclusions on the annual financial statements, and is of the
opinion that the audited annual financial statements be accepted and read together with the report of the Auditor-General.

Chairperson of the Audit Committee
Date: 21 July 2008
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REPORT OF THE AUDITOR-GENERAL TO PARLIAMENT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND
PERFORMANCE INFORMATION OF THE COMPETITION COMMISSION FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2008

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Introduction
1. I have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Competition Commission which comprise the statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2008, statement of financial performance, statement of changes in net assets and cash flow statement for
the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 60 to 84.

Responsibility of the accounting authority for the financial statements
2. The accounting authority is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
the basis of accounting determined by the National Treasury, as set out in accounting policy note 1.1 and in the manner required
by the Public Finance Management Act, 1999 (Act No. 1 of 1999) (PFMA) and the Competition Act, 1998 (Act No. 89 of 1998).
This responsibility includes:
•

designing, implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error

•

selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies

•

making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.

Responsibility of the Auditor-General
3. As required by section 188 of the Constitution of the Republic of South Africa, 1996 read with section 4 of the Public Audit Act,
2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) and section 40(10) of the Competition Act, 1998 (Act No. 89 of 1998), my responsibility is to express
an opinion on these financial statements based on my audit.
4. I conducted my audit in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing and General Notice 616 of 2008, issued in Government
Gazette No. 31057 of 15 May 2008. Those standards require that I comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
5. An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant
to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control.
6. An audit also includes evaluating the:
•

appropriateness of accounting policies used

•

reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management

•

overall presentation of the financial statements.

7. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.
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Basis of accounting
8. The public entity's policy is to prepare financial statements on the basis of accounting determined by the National Treasury, as set
out in accounting policy note 1.1.

Opinion
9. In my opinion the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Competition Commission
as at 31 March 2008 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with the basis of accounting
determined by the National Treasury as set out in accounting policy note 1.1 and in the manner required by the PFMA.

OTHER MATTERS
Without qualifying my opinion, I draw attention to the following matters that relate to my responsibilities in the audit of the financial
statements:

Matters of governance
10. The PFMA tasks the accounting authority with a number of responsibilities concerning financial and risk management and internal
control. Fundamental to achieving this is the implementation of certain key governance responsibilities, which I have assessed as
follows:

Matter of governance

Yes

Audit committee
− The public entity had an audit committee in operation throughout the financial year.

X

−

The audit committee operates in accordance with approved, written terms of reference.

X

−

The audit committee substantially fulfilled its responsibilities for the year, as set out in
section 77 of the PFMA and Treasury Regulation 27.1.8.

X

Internal audit
− The public entity had an internal audit function in operation throughout the financial
year.

X

−

The internal audit function operates in terms of an approved internal audit plan.

X

−

The internal audit function substantially fulfilled its responsibilities for the year, as set out
in Treasury Regulation 27.2.

X

Other matters of governance
The annual financial statements were submitted for audit as per the legislated deadlines
(section 55 of the PFMA for public entities).
The financial statements submitted for audit were not subject to any material amendments
resulting from the audit.
No significant difficulties were experienced during the audit concerning delays or the
unavailability of expected information and/or the unavailability of senior management.
The prior year's external audit recommendations have been substantially implemented.

No

X
X
X
X
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(continued)

OTHER REPORTING RESPONSIBILITIES
REPORT ON PERFORMANCE INFORMATION
11. I have reviewed the performance information as set out on pages 86 to 92.

Responsibilities of the accounting authority for the performance information
12. The accounting authority has additional responsibilities as required by section 55(2)(a) of the PFMA to ensure that the annual report
and audited financial statements fairly present the performance against predetermined objectives of the public entity.

Responsibility of the Auditor-General
13. I conducted my engagement in accordance with section 13 of the Public Audit Act, 2004 (Act No. 25 of 2004) read with General
Notice 616 of 2008, issued in Government Gazette No. 31057 of 15 May 2008.
14. In terms of the foregoing my engagement included performing procedures of an audit nature to obtain sufficient appropriate
evidence about the performance information and related systems, processes and procedures. The procedures selected depend on
the auditor's judgement.
15. I believe that the evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to report that no significant findings have been identified
as a result of my review.

APPRECIATION
16. The assistance rendered by the staff of the Competition Commission during the audit is sincerely appreciated.

Pretoria
25 July 2008
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Report by the Accounting Authority to the Executive Authority and Parliament of the Republic of South Africa.

1. NATURE OF BUSINESS
The Commission derives its mandate from the Competition Act No. 89 of 1998, as amended. The main objectives, as determined
by the Competition Act, are the following:
-

Promote efficiency, adaptability and development of the economy;

-

Provide consumers with competitive prices and product choices;

-

To promote employment, and advance social and economic welfare of South Africans;

-

To expand opportunities for South African participation in world markets and recognise the role of foreign competition in the
Republic;

-

To ensure that small and medium sized enterprises have an equitable opportunity to participate in the economy; and

-

To promote the greater spread of ownership, in particular to increase the ownership stakes of historically disadvantaged persons.

2. FINANCIAL OVERVIEW / PERFORMANCE
2.1 Financial Highlights

Revenue

2008

2007

R’000

R’000

80 907

68 118

Interest received

4 982

3 401

Total Revenue

85 889

71 519

Expenditure

91 671

74 886

Net deficit

(5 782)

(3 367)

Total assets

48 675

47 995

Total liabilities

16 065

9 603

No. of Merger cases filed

507

413

2.2 Total Revenue
Total revenue increased from R68 million in 2007 to R81 million in 2008. The 18% increase was the result of an increase in filing
fee income grants and transfers as well as interest received. An overall increase of 20% in filing fee income was achieved due to an
increase in the number of merger notifications received. Merger cases filed during the year increased by 23% to 507 (2007 : 413).
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(continued)
Interest earned on temporarily available funds increased from R3.4m in 2007 to R4.98m in the year under review. The 46% increase
was due to optimum interest earned on excess funds as well as the interest rate changes during the year.
Other income, increased by 32% to approximately R0.37 m (2007: R0.28m) due to repayment of study loans as well as a refund
from SASSETA (R0,120m) for training in the 2006-07 year.

2.3 Expenditure
Expenditure increased from R75 million in 2007 to R92 million in 2008, reflecting an overall increase of 22%. The increase in
expenditure was as a result of the growing capacity within the Commission due to increased activity as well as an increase in litigation
and consulting fees due to the complexity of cases.

2.4 Financial Performance
The Commission generated a deficit of R5.782m (2007: R3.367m deficit) for the current year. The deficit was mainly due to the
increased expenditure as a result of the increased activity within the Commission.
The Commission has submitted an application to National Treasury to retain their surplus of R32,6 million for the current financial
year.
The approved grant funding from government for the year 2008-09 amounting to R40m, income from filing fees plus any accumulated
surplus that the Commission is allowed to retain will be sufficient to ensure that the Commission is able to continue as a going
concern.

3. EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
The following staff members comprised the Executive Committee during the year under review:

ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY
MEMBER

Mr. M. Ramburuth

TITLE

REMUNERATION
2008
R’000

Commissioner

885

REMUNERATION
2007
R’000
850

A provision for the Commissioners performance for the period ending March 2007 and 2008 has been raised in the Annual Financial
Statements. The Commissioner is only entitled to a performance bonus on the finalisation of the performance assessment by the
Minister, the Department of Trade and Industry. The provision is reflected under Note 6: Employee costs in the notes to the Annual
Financial Statements.
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EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
MEMBER

TITLE

REMUNERATION
2008
R’000

REMUNERATION
2007 R’000

Mr. J Dreyer

Commission Secretary and Acting Manager Corporate
Services from 1 September 2006 to 31 July 2007

670

614

Ms. M. Nkomo

Manager : Corporate Services
( Resigned - 31 August 2006)

-

289

Ms. L. Blignaut

Manager : Mergers & Acquisitions
(Resigned - 13 August 2007)

299

720

Mr. G. Parr

Manager : Policy & Research
(Resigned - 30 June 2006)

-

158

Mr. T. Kunene

Manager :Enforcement & Exemptions and Acting
Deputy Commissioner from July 2006

950

701

Mr. M. Worsley

Manager : Legal Services

784

682

Mr. S. Roberts

Manager : Policy & Research
(Appointed 1 November 2006)

827

326

Mr. T Bonakele

Manager: Mergers & Acquisitions
(Appointed 14 August 2007)
Manager : Compliance
(from 1 February 2007 to 13 August 2007)

801

635

Ms. N. Pillay

Manager Corporate Services and CFO ( Appointed 1
August 2007- Acting Head of Finance from 23 April
2007 to 31 July 2007)

763

-

Mr. M. Rubushe

Acting Manager Compliance
(Appointed 14 August 2007)

543

-

The above table shows total annual remuneration (cost to company) received by managers who have served on the executive committee
at some point during the period under review. The Commission is responsible for its employee’s contributions to group life insurance
as well as the administration costs associated with the pension fund. These figures have been included in the total remuneration.
Also included in the above remuneration is the performance bonus awarded to managers for the year ending March 2008. The break
down has been disclosed in Note 6: Employee costs in the notes to the Annual Financial Statements

.

The acting allowance of R43 725 due to Mr T. Kunene for the year ending March 2007 is included in the above remuneration as
it was not provided for in the previous year. This amount was paid out in the current financial year

4. CHANGES IN NATURE OF PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
No major changes in the nature of property, plant and equipment or changes in the policy relating to the use of property, plant and
equipment took place during the year under review. Changes regarding the estimated useful life of the asset have been taken into
account in the calculation of the depreciation values of the asset.
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5. MATERIALITY FRAMEWORK
The Commission determined a materiality figure of R 451 980 for the year under review. The Commission’s business is such that
it is not capital intensive and revenue was regarded as the best indicator of business activity and therefore 1% of budgeted fee
income was used in determining the materiality figure.
Material facts and losses of a quantitative nature are disclosed when the materiality figure is exceeded, or if they arose through
criminal conduct, irregular/fruitless and wasteful expenditure.
Disposal of significant assets when overall operational functions of the Commission changes, are disclosed.

6. EVENTS SUBSEQUENT TO FINANCIAL POSITION DATE
No events took place between the year-end date (31st March 2008) and the date on which the financial statements were signed that
were sufficiently material to warrant disclosure to interested parties.

7. FRUITLESS AND WASTEFUL EXPENDITURE
The fruitless expenditure of R 6 610 occurred due to late payment of employees’ pension into the pension fund. The administrators
of the pension fund and the Commission were equally liable for the oversight and the Commission's liability amounted to 50% of
the actuarial value due to the employee. The matter was investigated and concluded that no employee was liable, as a result no
further action was taken. Management undertakes to ensure that fruitless expenditure of this nature does not recur in the future.
Also included under fruitless and wasteful expenditure is an amount of R397 for interest charges for late payment of the lease
installment as well as bank interest.

8. IRREGULAR EXPENDITURE
The irregular expenditure arose as a result of leases being entered into where substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership were transferred. This is synonymous with the definition of a finance lease as defined in South African Statements of
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice IAS 17 – Leases and Treasury Regulation 32.2.2. In accordance with Treasury Regulation
32.2.5(b) finance leases need to be entered into through the Minister of Finance. The intention of management was to acquire
the use of an asset for an agreed period of time through the payment of a series of rentals, and not to contravene Treasury
Regulations or the Public Finance Management Act. As a result no individual can be held liable for the incurrence of the irregular
expenditure.
The Commission entered into an agreement in May 2006 for finance leases for photocopiers in the amount of R701 000 for a
period of 36 months. National Treasury Practice Note 5 of 2006/2007 issued in December 2006 indicates that approval is not
required from the Minister of Finance for finance leases of less than 36 months for photocopiers. However, this according to the
Auditor General is not retrospective from 1 April 2006. The Commission has made application to National Treasury for approval
of the above irregular expenditure and is still awaiting confirmation.
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(continued)
The effect of the irregular expenditure is reflected in the notes to the financial statements in respect of property, plant and equipment;
finance leases; depreciation; finance charges; and accumulated surplus.

9. COMMISSION SECRETARY

10. ADDRESS

The details of the Commission’s secretary are as follows:

The Commission’s registered offices are situated at: -

Mr. P.J. Dreyer
Business address:

The dti campus
The dti campus

Building C: Mulayo

Building C: Mulayo

77 Meintjies Street

77 Meintjies Street

Sunnyside

Sunnyside

TSHWANE

TSHWANE
Postal address:

Private Bag X23

Lynnwood Ridge

Lynwood Ridge

0040

0040

TSHWANE
Telephone

with the postal address

Private Bag X23

+27-12-3943336

Fax

+27-12-3944336

Email address:

JohanD@compcom.co.za

TSHWANE
Web address: www.compcom.co.za

No changes occurred during the period under review.

MR. M. RAMBURUTH
ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY
24 June 2008

competition commission south africa annual report 2007/08

59

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
PERFORMANCE

For the year ended 31 March 2008

NOTES

2008

2007

R'000

R'000

Revenue
Fee income

2

57,312

48,625

Grants and transfers

3

23,221

19,144

Other income

4

374

284

-

65

Total Revenue

80,907

68,118

Expenses

91,671

74,886

Proﬁt on disposal of assets

Administrative expenses

5

3,041

1,982

Employee cost

6

39,550

33,528

Other operating expenditure

7

48,215

38,506

Depreciation and amortisation

8

811

805

Finance charges

9

54

65

Deficit from operations
Interest received

10

Deficit for the year
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(10,764)

(6,768)

4,982

3,401

(5,782)

(3,367)

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

NOTES

For the year ended 31 March 2008

2008

2007

R'000

R'000

ASSETS
Current Assets

45,769

45,740

12
13

547
45,222

1,405
44,335

14
15

2,906
2,567
339

2,255
2,095
160

48,675

47,995

16,042

9,323

16
17
18
19

15,507
277
258

9,077
19
227

19

23

280

16,065

9,603

Accumulated surpluses

32,610

38,392

Total Liabilities and accumulated surplus

48,675

47,995

Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Total Assets

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables
Provisions
Deferred income
Short term portion of ﬁnance lease
Non-current Liabilities
Finance lease
Total Liabilities

NET ASSETS
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2008

2007

R'000

R'000

ACCUMULATED SURPLUS

62

Balance at the beginning of the year

38,392

41,759

Deﬁcit for the year

(5,782)

(3,367)

Balance at the end of the year

32,610

38,392
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NOTES

2008

2007

R'000

R'000

81,765
(84,118)
(2,353)

67,659
(75,556)
(7,897)

4,982
(54)

3,401
(65)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash receipts from customers
Cash paid to suppliers and employees
Cash utilised from operations

20

Interest received
Finance charges
NET CASH (OUTFLOW)/INFLOW FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

2,575

(4,561)

(1,238)
(224)
-

(1,400)
(147)
122

(1,462)

(1,425)

(226)

701
(331)

(226)

370

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Additions to property, plant and equipment
Additions to intangible assets
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment
NET CASH OUTFLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITI

21

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Finance lease obligations
Finance lease repayments
NET CASH INFLOW /(OUTFLOW) FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

887

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year

13

(5,616)

44,335

49,951

45,222

44,335
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The annual financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis and include the following principal accounting
policies which, in all material respects, are consistent with those applied in the previous year, except as otherwise indicated:-

1.1

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the South African Statements of Generally Accepted Accounting
Practices (GAAP) including any interpretations of such Statements issued by the Accounting Practices Board, with the effective
Standards of Generally Recognised Accounting Practices (GRAP) issued by the Accounting Standards Board replacing the equivalent
GAAP Statement as follows:

Standard of GRAP

Replaced Statement of GAAP

GRAP 1: Presentation of financial statements

AC101: Presentation of financial statements

GRAP 2: Cash flow statements

AC118: Cash flow statements

GRAP 3: Accounting policies, changes in

AC103: Accounting policies, changes in accounting accounting estimates

and errors estimates and errors
Currently the recognition and measurement principles in the above GRAP and GAAP Statements do not differ or result in material
differences in items presented and disclosed in the financial statements. The implementation of GRAP 1, 2 & 3 has resulted in the
following changes in the presentation of the financial statements:
1.

Terminology differences:

Standard of GRAP

64

Replaced Statement of GAAP

Statement of financial performance

Income statement

Statement of financial position

Balance sheet

Statement of changes in net assets

Statement of changes in equity

Net assets

Equity

Surplus/deficit

Profit/loss

Accumulated surplus/deficit

Retained earnings

Contributions from owners

Share capital

Distributions to owners

Dividends

2.

The cash flow statement can only be prepared in accordance with the direct method.

3.

Specific information has been presented separately on the statement of financial position such as:
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(a) Receivables from non-exchange transactions, including taxes and transfers;
(b) Taxes and transfers payable;
(c) Trade and other payables from non-exchange transactions;
4.

Amount and nature of any restrictions on cash balances is required.

Paragraph 11 – 15 of GRAP 1 has not been implemented due to the fact that the local and international budget reporting standard
is not effective for this financial year. Although the inclusion of budget information would enhance the usefulness of the financial
statements, non-disclosure will not affect the objective of the financial statements.

1.2

Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises of case notification fees and facility charges received. Revenue from case notification fees is recognised when
the case is accepted by the Commission. Facility fees are recognised on a monthly basis for services rendered by the Commission
for infrastructure usage by the Competition Tribunal.

1.3

Other income is recognised, as and when received.

Interest received

Interest received is recognised on a time-proportion basis by reference to the principal cash investment and the interest rate applicable.

1.4

Government grants

Government grants are recognised as income over the periods necessary to match them with the related costs, which they are intended
to compensate, on a systematic basis.

1.5

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is calculated with the straightline method on the cost less residual value, to write off assets over the estimated useful lives.
The estimated useful lives of assets are:
Furniture and fittings

10-12 years

Office and Catering equipment

5-7 years

Motor vehicles

5 years

Computer equipment

3-5 years

Photocopiers

period of lease

The residual value and useful lives of property, plant and equipment is considered every year for any adjustments necessary.

1.6

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Computer
software costs that exceed beyond one year are recognised as intangible assets. These assets are amortised from the date the asset is
brought into use, using the straight-line method over their useful lives. The estimated useful life of computer software is 3 years.
The useful lives of the assets are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted if appropriate. Computer software has no residual
value as the software is not resaleable.
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1.7

Impairment of Assets

The Commission assesses the statement of financial position on whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If
there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, recoverable amount is estimated for the individual asset. If it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs is determined.
The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. If
the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable
amount. That reduction is an impairment loss.
An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised immediately in profit
or loss. Any impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation decrease.
An impairment loss is recognised for cash-generating units if the recoverable amount of the unit is less than the carrying amount
of the units. The impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the assets of the unit in the following order:
•

first, to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit and

•

then, to the other assets of the unit, pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.

The Commission assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior periods
for assets may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amounts of those assets are
estimated.
The increased carrying amount of an asset attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost less accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised immediately
in profit or loss. Any reversal of an impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation increase.

1.8

Leasing

Leases of assets are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee.
Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, if lower at the present
value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the statement of financial position
as a finance lease obligation. Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so
as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged to profit or loss.
Leases of assets under which all the risks and rewards of ownership are effectively retained by the lessor are classified as operating
leases. Payments made under operating leases are charged to the statement of financial performance on a straight-line basis over
the period of the lease.
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1.9 Employee benefits
Contributions to the defined contribution pension plan are charged to the statement of financial performance in the year in which
they relate. The institution has no legal or constructive obligation to pay further contributions once the contributions have been
paid.

1.10

Financial instruments

Financial instruments carried on the statement of financial position include cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, trade
payables and lease liabilities. These financial instruments are initially recognised at their estimated fair value, which is the amount
for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between knowledgeable and willing parties in an arm’s length transaction.
Recognition
Financial instruments are initially recognised using the trade date accounting method. Financial instruments are recognised in the
entity’s statement of financial position when the entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of an instrument.
Measurement
Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value plus transaction cost. Subsequently to initial recognition these instruments
are measured at amortised cost.
Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of financial instruments are recognised in net surplus or deficit in the year
in which they arise.
Financial assets
Financial assets are classified as financial assets at fair value through surplus or deficit, loans and receivables or held to maturity
investment as appropriate. When financial assets are initially recognised they are measured at fair value.
The Competition Commission determines the classification of its financial assets on initial recognition and, where allowed and
appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at each financial year end.
Impairment of financial assets
The Commission assesses at each financial position date whether a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. Impairment
losses are recognised in surplus or deficit when the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable
amount is calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash plans discounted at the original effective interest rate of the
instrument.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
After initial measurement loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any allowance
for impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in surplus or deficit when the receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as
through the amortisation process.
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Assets carried at amortised cost
In relation to receivables a provision for impairment is made when there is objective evidence (such as the probability of insolvency
or significant financial difficulties of the debtor) that the Competition Commission will not be able to collect all the amounts due
under the original terms of the invoice. The carrying amount of the receivable is reduced through use of an allowance account.
Impaired debts are derecognised when they are assessed as uncollectible.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand and cash equivalents with an
original maturity of three months or less. For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and
cash equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts.
Cash and cash equivalents are recognised at cost.
Financial liabilities
Payables
Payables are initially recognised at fair value.
After initial recognition, payables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses
are recognised in surplus and deficit when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the amortisation process.

1.11 Provisions
Provisions are raised when a present legal or constructive obligation exists as a result of a past event and it is probable that an outflow
of resources will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

1.12

Irregular and fruitless and wasteful expenditure

Irregular expenditure means expenditure incurred in contravention of, or not in accordance with a requirement of any applicable
legislation including the PFMA.
Fruitless and wasteful expenditure means expenditure that was made in vain and would have been avoided had reasonable care been
exercised.
The expenditure portion of irregular and fruitless and wasteful expenditure is charged against income and the capital portion of
irregular expenditure is charged against the related liability in the period in which they are determined.
All fruitless and wasteful expenditure is charged against income in the period in which they are determined.
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2008

2007

R'000

R'000

55,710
1,602

46,516
2,109

57,312

48,625

23,221

19,144

23,221

19,144

Conferences, skills levy refund and other

374

284

Total

374

284

General and administrative expenses
Auditors remuneration
- External audit fees

2,580
461
461

1,736
246
246

Total

3,041

1,982

2 Fee income
An analysis of the Commission's fee income is as follows:
Rendering of services:
- Filing fees
- Facility fees
Total

3 Grants and transfers
Government grant
Total

4 Other income

5 Administrative expenses
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Salary

Pension
Contribution

Cellphone
Allowance

Performance
Bonus

Other

Total

R'000
2008
2007

R'000
2008
2007

R'000
2008 2007

R'000
2008
2007

R'000
2008
2007

R'000
2008
2007

Accounting Authority's
Emoluments
Mr. M. Ramburuth

741

736

58

33

16

15

-

-

70

66

885

850

Subtotal

741

736

58

33

16

15

-

-

70

66

885

850

510
260
747
622
613
623
438
650

461
277
529
147
534
536
489
245
-

35
14
41
46
41
45
28
30

27
8
36
8
33
40
29
18
-

9
4
12
12
14
12
9
8

9
4
12
3
12
12
8
5
-

76
121
86
94
100
56
63

76
88
96
76
79
39

40
21
29
18
39
47
12
12

41
55
26
18
30
19
-

670
299
950
784
801
827
543
763

614
289
720
158
701
682
635
326
-

4,463

3,218

280

199

80

65

596

454

218

189

5,637

4,125

23, 371

17,956

1,568

1,267

384

307

2,633

2,170

4,740

6,566

4,066

28,266

-

-

-

-

-

-

277

-

-

-

277

-

55

287

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

55

287

28,630

22,504

1,906

1,499

480

387

3,506

2,624

5,028

6,821

10,920

33,528

Executive Committee
Emoluments
Mr. J. Dreyer
Ms. M. Nkomo
Ms. L. Blignaut
Mr. G. Parr
Mr. T. Kunene
Mr. M. Worsley
Mr. T. Bonakele
Mr. S. Roberts
Mr. M. Rubushe
Ms. N. Pillay
Subtotal
Other employees
Provision for
performance bonus
Temporary staff
Total employee costs

Other employee costs include contributions to medical aid, group life insurance and adminisration costs associated with the pension funds
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2008

2007

R'000

R'000

10,227
65
9,285
14,966
658
2,581
96
5,145
2,869
355
1,968

7,624
44
8,149
8,352
718
1,681
305
61
7,632
1,729
579
1,632

48,215

38,506

Depreciation : Property, plant and equipment
- Ofﬁce equipment
- Motor vehicles
- Computer equipment
- Furniture and ﬁttings
- Photocopiers
Amortisation : Intangible assets
- Computer software

23
33
372
104
234

16
25
347
125

45

292

Total

811

805

7 Other operating expenses
Consultants, contractors and special services
Audit Committee Fees
Fees paid to Tribunal
Legal fees
Maintenance, repairs and running costs
Education and awareness
Research projects
Operating leases
Property Rental
Travel & Accommodation
Internal Audit Fees
Other
Total

8 Depreciation and amortisation

9 Finance charges
Photocopiers

54

65

Total

54

65

Interest received
- Bank

4,982

3,401

Total

4,982

3,401

Staff pension fund contribution
Replacement of copy monitors

7
-

8

Total

7

8

10 Interest received

11 Fruitless and wasteful expenditure

The fruitless expenditure occurred due to late payment of employees pension into the fund . The administrators of the
pension fund and the Commission were equally liable for the oversight and the Commission's liability amounted to 50%
of the actuarial value due to the employee. The matter was investigated and concluded that no employee was liable,
which as a result, no further action was taken. Management undertakes to ensure that fruitless expenditure of this nature
does not recur in the future. The above also includes an amount of R397 for interest charges for late payment of the lease
instalment.
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R'000

R'000

Trade debtors
Less Provision for Doubtful debts
Receiver of Revenue
Sundry Debtors
Other

456
59
5
27

255
(5)
1,119
22
14

Total

547

1,405

2,138
43,082
2

2,733
41,600
2

45,222

44,335

12 Trade and other receivables

13 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash at bank
Corporation of Public Deposits ( SARB)
Cash on hand
Total
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2008
R'000

14 Property, plant and equipment
Cost

Furniture and ﬁttings
Computer equipment
Ofﬁce and catering equipment
Motor vehicles
Leased assets - photocopiers

For the year ended 31 March 2008

2007
R'000

Accumulated
Net
Depreciation Book Value

Cost
Accumulated
Net
Accumulated
Net
Depreciation
Depreciation
Book Value Book Value

Cost

2,173
4,582
1,057
326
701

(1,607)
(3,157)
(940)
(129)
(439)

566
1,425
117
197
262

2,173
3,664
1,135
326
701

2,173
(1,503)
3,664
(3,016)
1,135
(1,084)
326 (96)
701(205)

(1,503)
670
(3,016)
648
(1,084)
51
(96)
230
(205)
496

670
648
51
230
496

8,839

(6,272)

2,567

7,999

7,999
(5,904)

(5,904)
2,095

2,095

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment can be reconciled as follows
2008

Furniture and ﬁttings
Computer equipment
Ofﬁce and catering equipment
Motor vehicles
Leased assets - photocopiers

Carrying
value

670
648
51
230
496
2,095

2007

Furniture and ﬁttings
Computer equipment
Ofﬁce and catering equipment
Motor vehicles
Leased assets - photocopiers
Assets held for disposal

Carrying
value at
beg of
year

Additions

Disposals

Depreciation

Carrying
value at end
of year

(104)
(372)
(23)
(33)
(234)

566
1,425
117
197
262

1,149
89

-

1,238

-

(766)

2,567

Disposals

Depreciation

Held for
disposal in
previous
year not
disposed

Additions

Carrying
value at end
of year

755
504
40
13
87
87

10
420
27
242
701
-

(57)

(125)
(276)
(16)
(25)
(292)
-

30
(30)

670
648
51
230
496
-

1,486

1,400

(57)

(734)

-

2,095

Assets with zero values consisting of computer and ofﬁce equipment with a cost price of R 2 581 279 are still in use. Assets with zero
values consisting of computer and ofﬁce equipment with a cost price of R398 609 have been disposed of.The useful life and residual
value of other assets still in use were reviewed and the change in the current year amounted to a reduction of R158 987 in the
depreciation .
The Commission is leasing equipment under a ﬁnance lease. The lease agreement does not impose any restrictions.
The lease agreement can be extended at the end of the three year period for a further period.
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15 Intangible assets
2008
R'000
Cost

Computer Software

2007
R'000

Accumulated
Net
Depreciation Book Value

Cost
Accumulated
Net
Accumulated
Net
DepreciationDepreciation
Book Value Book Value

Cost

571

(232)

339

347

347
(187)

(187)
160

160

571

(232)

339

347

347
(187)

(187)
160

160

The carrying values of intangible assets can be reconciled as follows
2008

Computer Software

2007

Computer software

Carrying
value

Additions

Depreciation

Carrying
value at end
of year

160

224

(45)

339

160

224

(45)

339

Depreciation

Carrying
value at end
of year

Carrying
value at
beg of
year

Additions

84

147

(71)

160

84

147

(71)

160

The useful life of computer software still in use were reviewed and the change in the current year amounted to a reduction of R 40
439 in depreciation. There are no residual values in computer software as computer software is considered not to be resaleable. Prior
year ﬁgures have been restated to conform to the current year presentation of disclosure of computer software as intangible assets. The
effect of the restatement was a reduction in the prior year carrying value of property, plant and equipment of R160 000 and an
increase in the carrying value of intangible assets of R160 000 from zero to R160 000. This amount was not considered material and
is therefore not disclosed as a prior period error.
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2008
R'000

2007
R'000

10,648
3,229
1,630

7,552
1,525

15,507

9,077

16 Trade and other payables
Trade payables & accruals
Performance bonus
Leave due to employees
Total

Performance Bonus is the accrued amount for performance bonus due to employees at 31 March 2008. The amount
accrued was paid out in April 2008

17 Provisions
Opening carrying amount
Additional provisions

277

-

Total

277

-

The provision for the current year represents a provision for the Commissioner's performance bonuses for the year
ending March 2007 and March 2008.

18 Deferred income
Opening balance
New grants awarded
Upgrade of CMS program
Deferred grants utilized

19
(19)

Closing balance

-

2,095
19
19
(2,095)
19

The amount of the grant deferred relates to an amount received from government for the upgrade of the CMS
programme.

19 Finance lease
Amounts payable under ﬁnance leases:
- Minimum lease payment
- Future ﬁnance charges
Outstanding balance
Less: Current portion due within 12 months

304
(23)
281
(258)
23

579
(72)
507
(227)
280

Obligations under ﬁnance leases are secured by the lessor's title to the leased asset.
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20 Cash utilised from operations

Deﬁcit for the year
Adjusted for:
- Depreciation and amortisation
- Interest received
- Finance charges
- Proﬁt on disposal of assets
Operating cash ﬂows before working capital changes
Working capital changes
- Decrease/(increase) in receivables
- (Decrease)/increase in current liabilities
Cash utilised from operations

For the year ended 31 March 2008

2008
R'000

2007
R'000

(5,782)

(3,367)

811
(4,982)
54
(9,899)
7,546
857
6,689

805
(3,401)
65
(65)
(5,963)
(1,934)
(394)
(1,540)

(2,353)

(7,897)

21 Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment
Acquisition of intangible assets : computer software
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment

(1,238)
(224)
-

(1,400)
(147)
122

(1,462)

(1,425)

22 Defined contribution plans
All employees are members of a deﬁned contribution scheme administered by Sanlam Ltd. The scheme is currently
invested in investment policies underwritten by Metropolitan Life. As an insured fund, the Competition Commission
Pension Fund complies with regulation 28 of the Pension Funds Act of 1956.

23 Changes in accounting estimates
The useful life and residual value of assets still in use were reviewed and the change in the current year amounted to a
reduction of R 199 426 in depreciation. The useful life of assets still in use were increased by 1 to 3 years.

24 Contingent liabilities
Accumulated surplus
The accumulated surplus of R32,582m has been classiﬁed as a contingent liability at 31 March 2008 as the Competition
Commission had not yet received approval to retain the accumulated surplus. In terms of the PFMA Section 53 (3)
entities are not allowed to accumulate surpluses unless approved by National Treasury. A submission has been made to
National Treasury to retain the surplus of R32,582m and the Competition Commission is awaiting approval. The
Commission is obliged to repay to National Treasury any amount of the surplus not granted for retention. Based on the
assumption in Note 31, the Commission is of the opinion that National Treasury will grant the approval and therefore the
Commision will not be required to repay this amount.
Litigations and claims
The Commission has a possible liability towards one former employee resulting from legal action taken by this employee.
The Commission believes that based on current information, Commission's liability would not exceed R40 000. No other
contingencies at date of the ﬁnancial statements.
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25 Rental and operating lease commitments
Office rental
There is no lease agreement with the DTI. However premises are rented from the DTI and rental payments are based on
amounts determined by the DTI including annual CPIX changes.

Finance lease commitments
Photocopiers

2008

2007

R'000

R'000

Up to 1 year

258

227

1 to 5 years

23

280

281

507

Total

The Commission is leasing equipment under a ﬁnance lease. The lease agreement does not impose any restrictions. The
lease agreement can be extended at the end of the three year period for a further period.

26 Income Tax exemption
The Commission is exempted from income tax in terms of Section 10(1)(a) of the Income Tax Act, 1962.

27 Irregular Expenditure
The irregular expenditure of R701 000 in year 2007 arose as a result of ﬁnance leases being entered into without the
prior permission of National Treasury as per Treasury Regulations 32.2.5 (b). The Commission has made a submission to
National Treasury and is awaiting approval. The effect of the irregular expenditure is reﬂected in the notes to the ﬁnancial
statements in respect of property, plant and equipment: ﬁnance leases; depreciation; ﬁnance charges; and accumulated
surplus.
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28 Comparative figures
Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation in the current year.
Prior year figures have been restated to conform to the current year presentation of disclosure of computer software as intangible
assets. The effect of the restatement was as follows:
A reduction of R160 000 in property, plant and equipment from R2 255 000 to R2 095 000 and
An increase in intangible assets of R160 000 from zero value to R160 000

29 Financial Instruments
The following table shows the classification of the Competition Commission’s principal instruments together with their carrying
value:

Financial
instrument

Classification

Cash and cash
equivalents

Loans and receivables

Receivables

Loans and receivables

Payables

Financial liabilities

Finance leases

Financial liabilities measured at amortised
cost

Carrying amount -2008
(R’000)

Carrying amount -2007
(R’000)

45 222

44 335

547

1 405

15 507

9 077

281

507

30 Financial risk management
The main risks arising from the Competition Commission’s financial instruments are credit risk, market risk and liquidity risk.
Credit risk
Financial assets which potentially subject the Competition Commission to concentrations of credit risk consist mainly of cash and
trade receivables. The Commission’s cash and short term deposits are placed with high credit quality financial institutions. Credit
risk with respect to trade receivables is limited due to the nature of the Commission’s revenue transactions. The Commission’s
exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of these
instruments. Accordingly the Commission has no significant concentration of credit risk.
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Exposure to credit risk
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date from financial assets was:
R’000
Cash and cash equivalents
Other receivables
Total

2008

2007

45 222
547
45 769

44 335
1 405
45 740

Concentration of credit risk
The maximum exposure to credit risk for financial assets at the reporting date by credit rating category was as follows:

2008

AAA and government

Unrated

45 222

-

R’000
Cash and cash equivalents
Other receivables

205

342

AAA and government

2007

Unrated

R’000
Cash and cash equivalents
Other receivables

44 335

-

-

1 405

Ageing of financial assets
The following table provides information regarding the credit quality of assets which may expose the
Commission to credit risk
2008

Neither past due nor
impaired

Past due but not
impaired
Less than 5 months

Past due but not
impaired
More than 5 months

Carrying value

45 222

-

-

45 222

85

178

Neither past due nor
impaired

Past due but not
impaired
Less than 5 months

Past due but not
impaired
More than 5 months

Carrying value

44 335

-

-

44 335

286

-

1 119

R’000
Cash and cash
equivalents
Other receivables

2007

284

547

R’000
Cash and cash
equivalents
Other receivables

1 405
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Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as the interest rate will affect the value of the
financial assets of the Commission.

Interest rate risk
The Competition Commission’s exposure to interest risk is managed by investing, on a short term basis, in current accounts and
the Corporation for Public Deposits to ensure maximum interest on surplus funds. The risk arises when there are interest rate changes
downwards as this is likely to reduce the interest income on invested funds.
The Commission’s risk on the finance leases arises when interest rates increase thereby increasing the liability on the leased assets.

Sensitivity Analysis
The Competition Commission is exposed to interest rate changes in respect of returns on its investments with financial institutions
and interest payable on finance leases contracted with outside parties
A change in the market interest rate at the reporting date would have increased/ (decreased) the surplus for the year by the amounts
below:

31/3/2008

Change in Investments

Increase/(decrease) in net surplus for the year
Upward change

Downward change

Cash and cash
equivalents

1%

452

(452)

Finance lease

1%

(3)

3

Cash and cash
equivalents

1%

443

(443)

Finance lease

1%

(5)

5

31/3/2007

Liquidity risk
The Competition Commission’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. Taking into consideration
the Competition Commission’s current funding structures and availability of cash resources the Competition Commission regards
this risk to be low provided National Treasury approves the retention of the surplus.
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Exposure to liquidity risk
The following table reflects the Commission’s exposure to liquidity risk from financial liabilities

2008
Other financial liabilities
Lease Liabilities

2007
Other financial liabilities
Lease liabilities

Carrying amount

Total cash flow
15 507

Contractual cash flow
Within 1 year
15 507

Contractual cash flow
2-5 years
-

15 507
281

281

258

23

Carrying amount

Total cash flow

Contractual cash flow
Within 1 year

Contractual cash flow
2-5 years

9 096

9 096

507

507

9 096

-

227

280

Fair value
At 31 March 2008 and 31 March 2007, the carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, trade and
other trade payables and short-term loans approximate their fair values.

Gains and losses on financial assets and liabilities per category
The following table presents the total net gains or losses for each category of financial assets and financial liabilities

2008

Loans and Receivables
R’000

Financial liabilities at
amortised cost
R’000

Total
R’000
4 982

Interest income

4 982

-

Finance charges

-

(54)

(54)

4 982

(54)

4 928

Total net gains
recognised in the
statement of financial
performance
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)
2007

Loans and Receivables
R’000

Interest income
Finance charges
Total net gains
recognised in the
statement of financial
performance

For the year ended 31 March 2008

Financial liabilities at
amortised cost
R’000

Total
R’000

-

3 401

3 401
3 401

(65)

(65)

(65)

3 336

31 Critical management assumptions and judgements
The Competition Commission makes assumptions and judgements that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the
Statement of Financial Position date as well as affecting the reported Statement of Performance for the year. Assumptions and
judgements are evaluated annually and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Accumulated surpluses
As at 31st May 2008 the Competition Commission had not received a response from National Treasury with respect to their request
to retain the surplus for the current year to cover future expenditure. The Commission has decided to disclose the accumulated
surplus as a contingent liability as it is probable that approval will be obtained.. This is based on the fact that the Commission
received permission in June 2007 to retain the previous year’s accumulated surplus of R 38 392 m. The Commission also has a
deficit in the current year and is of the opinion that the prior year approval will be carried forward. The Commission has included
the surplus as an amount required to fund future expenditure as the grant funding and filing fee income will not be sufficient.

Review of useful life and residual values
Management uses its judgement in determining the useful life and residual value of the assets taking into account the state of the
asset and what the useful life will be as well as the value of the asset at the end of its useful life
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2008

2008
R'000

2007
R'000

32 Related parties
Related party

Relationship

The Competition Tribunal
The Department of Trade and Industry
The Department of Justice
SA Revenue Service
Compensation Fund

Public entity in National sphere
National Department in National sphere
National Department in National sphere
Public entity in National sphere
Public entity in National sphere

Related party balances
Amounts included in Trade Payables regarding related parties
The Competition Tribunal
The Department of Trade and Industry
The Department of Justice and Constitutional Development
SA Revenue Services

880
399
470
1,749

489
30
1,440
1,959

205
205

-

23,221
5,145
1,106

17,049
7,632
921

205

-

The Competition Tribunal
Filing fees refunded
Facility Fee income
Net employee costs recovered
Net administration costs recovered

9,285
1,602
306
88

8,149
2,109
98
45

Department of Justice
Counsel fees paid

2,199

502

SA Revenue Service
Payments in respect of PAYE, UIF and Skills development lev

7,397

6,938

238

161

154,263
154,263

67,800
67,800

Amounts included in Trade Receivables regarding related parties
The Department of Trade and Industry

Related party transactions
The Department of Trade and Industry
Government grant received
Rent paid
Telephone and Internet costs paid
Amount due by the Department of Trade and Industry for
the maintenance of the case management system

Compensation Fund
Payment in respect of Workmen's Compensation

Penalties collected on behalf of related parties
and transferred to related parties
National Treasury
The Department of Trade and Industry
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NOTES TO THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2008

33 Accounting standards issued but not yet effective
At the date of authorization of these financial statements, the following accounting standards of Generally Recognized
Accounting Principles (GRAP) were in issue, but not yet effective;
GRAP 4 - The Effects of changes in Foreign Exchange Rates (not applicable)
GRAP 5 - Borrowing Costs (not applicable)
GRAP 6 - Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (not applicable)
GRAP 7 - Investments in Associate (not applicable)
GRAP 8 - Interest in Joint Ventures (not applicable)
GRAP 9 - Revenue from Exchange Transactions (not applicable)
GRAP 10 - Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies (not applicable)
GRAP 11 - Construction Contracts (not applicable)
GRAP 12 - Inventories
GRAP 13 - Leases
GRAP 14 - Events after the reporting date
GRAP 16 - Investment Property (not applicable)
GRAP 17 - Property Plant and Equipment
GRAP 18 - Segment Reporting (not applicable)
GRAP 19 - Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets
GRAP 23 - Revenue from Non-exchange Transactions (Taxes and Transfers) (not applicable)
GRAP 24 - Presentation of Budget Information in Financial Statements
GRAP 100 - Non-current Assets held for Sale and Discontinued Operations (not applicable)
GRAP 101 - Agriculture (not applicable)
GRAP 102 - Intangible Assets
Management believes that the adoption of these standards in future periods will have no material impact on the financial
statements of the Competition Commission as most of them are irrelevant and those that are relevant are to a greater extent
similar in application and disclosure as the GAAP standards applied currently.
The effective date of the above mentioned statement as for the annual periods beginning on or after 1st April 2009.

84

competition commission south africa annual report 2007/08

Report on
planned activities
for

2007/08

85

Predetermined Objective

Targets

Achievements

Conduct economic research into specific sectors
and specific topics

Research done on four priority sectors including
infrastructure/construction, intermediate industrial
products, agro-processing

Research done on:
•
Infrastructure / construction
•
Intermediate industrial products
•
Telecommunications
•
Agro - processing and food
•
Healthcare
•
Bid-rigging
•
Import parity pricing

Ensure efficient evaluation of exemption
applications filed under Section 10 of the Act

To be completed within 12 months from receipt.
3 - 4 exemption applications expected.

3 exemption applications received in this financial year. 5
carried over from previous years. Two applications finalised.
Both exemptions were in the airline industry (SAA) and were
finalised on average within 17 months. In the SAA/Quantas
case the investigation was done in parallel with the Australian
authority. In the SAA/LAM case the Commission received a
number of objections that affected the investigation period.

Proactive initiation of investigations into anticompetitive behaviour in priority sectors

4 initiations within 12 months.

10 complaints initiated:
•
1 in scrap metal
•
1 in phosphoric acid / chemicals
•
1 in Polyurethane
•
1 in transport
•
1 in polymers
•
1 in healthcare
•
2 in airline international passenger services
•
1 in construction
•
1 in high density polyethylene products

All new complaints screened

All new complaints screened within 7 days of receipt of
complaint

125 complaints were screened on average within 7 days of
receiving them. 58 complaints carried forward from the
previous period.

Amended program:
•
Submissions, analysis and research - August to
October 2006
•
First public hearings - November 2006
•
Further analysis and engagement - December
2006 to March 2007
•
Technical team engagement and final public
hearings - April 2007 to July 2007
•
Report writing - August 2007 onwards

The amended program for the enquiry provided for its work to
be done in five stages, ending with a report towards the end of
2007. However, the timeline was extended due to the need for
adequate time to process the large amount of complex
information collected during the process.

Monitor and evaluate compliance with exemption
conditions and undertakings

Report on compliance with conditions and undertakings
monitored, evaluated and reported by parties to the
executive committee

Evaluated compliance by SAA with exemption conditions
granted for code share agreement with Quantas

Rigorous economic analysis in merger and
complaints cases

P&R analysis for cases, including consultation with
investigator and full economic analysis of anti-competitive
effects

Economic analysis in all merger and complaint cases

Cases finalised within time and substantiated
recommendations made in reports to the
executive committee
Enquiry into competition in banking
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During the year under review the enquiry has undertaken the
following activities:
•
Technical team engagements with stakeholders
primarily the banks and card associations
•
Holding the second public hearings and
•
Report writing.

Predetermined Objective

Targets

Achievements

Effective presentation of economic evidence at
hearings

Economic arguments are supported and sustained in
Tribunal hearings

Effective presentation of economic evidence at all Tribunal
hearings. Capacity of Commission staff improved through
seminars and workshops to enable them to develop and give
expert economic analysis at hearings.

Review of outcomes following a merger or
complaint decision

Review of pricing and other competitive outcomes in
markets where findings/consent orders were made

Assessment done on pricing in bread and construction products

Fulfil the Commission’s mandate as set out in
Chapter 3 of the Competition Act 89 of 1999

All cases correctly finalised within set service standard
periods and statutory deadlines.

385 phase 1 cases were reviewed. (Reviewed means the
Commission made a decision to approve the merger, approve it
with conditions, or prohibit it. This figure does not include
mergers which were withdrawn or where the Commission did
not have jurisdiction). 12 cases qualified for fast tracking and
were finalised an average turnaround time of 16 days. Out of
385 phase 1 cases, 149 were finalized within 20 days.

Target service standards:
•
Phase 1 - 20 business days
•
Phase 2 - 25 business days
•
Phase 3 - 45 business days

The average turnaround time for all 385 phase 1 cases is 25.7
days.
• Out of 62 phase 2 cases, 5 were finalised within 25 days.
The average turnaround time of all 62 cases was 44 days
• 22 phase 3 cases were finalised at an average turnaround
time of 60 days
Due to the complexity of some cases, the average turnaround
time may get affected. In exceptional cases, the service standard
deadlines may be exceeded.
Cases
Phase 1
Phase 2
Phase 3
Small
Intermediate
Large

Turnaround time
25.7 days
44 days
60 days
36.2 days
27 days
39 days

Drafting of horizontal merger guidelines

Publication of horizontal merger guidelines

Decision to publish withdrawn - will be considered at a later
stage

Increase interaction with world-class authorities

Secondment of staff member to foreign jurisdiction for a one
month ‘internship’ and hosting of an experienced staff
member from a world-class competition authority

Decided not to proceed with this objective during the year due
to capacity constraints. This activity was replaced by inviting
international experts to conduct training at the Commission:
•
OFT (UK) - Bid-rigging
•
DOJ (US) - Quantitative Methods
Various interactions with international fora:
• ICN
• OECD
• UNCTAD
• Fordham

Proper and timeous legal and strategic advice in
respect of the investigation of mergers, complaints
and exemption applications

Timeous contributions (written and oral) to the
investigations which evidence a clear understanding of the
issues and the use of appropriate precedents

Legal Services division participated as team members in 37
merger investigations and 25 complaint investigations.
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Predetermined Objective

Targets

Achievements

Deal with legal challenges in the High Court,
Competition Appeal Court and Supreme Court of
Appeal in order to establish precedent and create
legal certainty regarding the interpretation of the
Act

Instructions to counsel and assisting counsel in drafting
pleadings, preparation of case arguments and attendances at
the High Court, Competition Appeal Court and Supreme
Court of Appeal

5 reviews and appeals before the Competition Appeal Court /
High Court / or Supreme Court of Appeal

Encourage and facilitate voluntary compliance
with the Act

Ad hoc information contacts focusing on SMEs and HDIs

Information contacts made with:
•
Small Mining Limpopo
•
Black Salon Owners Association
•
Bargain Tents Machaba Mining Services
•
Status Panel Beaters
•
Digital Addiction
•
KMB Bonds
•
Dynamica Estates
•
PERMARK
•
SANTACO
•
Council on Built Environment
•
National Association of Real Estate Agencies

Develop an example or sample of a typical
compliance program

Final document post on the website

Research on compliance program done. Process of preparing a
draft compliance program started.

Encourage and assist companies to develop and
implement compliance programs that are in line
with the required standard

Number of companies helped

1 compliance program submitted by SAA commented on

Provide advisory opinions and clarifications to
increase level of understanding of the Act

Number of advisory opinions and clarifications issued in
adherence to service standards:
• Advisory opinions - 20 days
• Clarifications - 10 days

45 opinion requests received and issued on average within 24
days and 53 written clarifications issued on average within 5
days. Due to the complexity of some opinions, the average
turnaround time may get affected. In exceptional cases, the
service standard deadlines may be exceeded.

Monitor non-notified mergers

Monitor mergers that have not been notified to the
Commission

No non-notified mergers identified

Increase participation of trade unions’ activities

Facilitate information contacts with unions to encourage
union participation

1 training workshop
3 educational workshops
1 consultative forum

Manage the relationship between the Commission
and stakeholders

•
•
•
•

Negotiated MOU’s with ICASA and the National Liquor
Authority. Drafts for discussion prepared.

2 MOU’s
1 government consultative meeting
1 business forum
1 consumer consultative meeting

1 government consultative meeting on competition law
principles with government departments, regulators and state
owned enterprises
4 lawyer practitioners’ workshops
3 presentations at tertiary institutions
Meeting with Nigerian Consumer Commission
Presentation to South African Nigerian Bi-national
Commission’s Finance and Trade Committee

88

competition commission south africa annual report 2007/08

Predetermined Objective

Targets

Achievements
Presentation at Fair Competition Commission of Tanzania
Business forum and consumer consultative forum did not take
place and are carried over to the next financial year. However
on an ad hoc basis the Commission met with business on
competition related issues. 35 such meetings took place during
the financial year under review.

Conduct research and publish notices / guidelines
on various aspects of competition regulation

Develop a notice on joint control

Research in preparation of the notice on joint control done. Not
finalised due to capacity constraints.

Influence policy and legislative processes

Review draft bills and policies / advocacy positions

Commented on:
•
Cooperative Banks Bill
•
Infraco Bill
•
Eskom Pricing Policy
•
ICASA Guidelines
•
Port Regulators (guidance on proposed legislation)
•
Swaziland / SA sugar trade
•
Export Taxes discussion document
•
Treasury papers on Telecoms

Assess implications of national economic policies
for the Commission

2 reports evaluating National Industrial Policy Framework
and Asgi-SA policies

Briefs prepared on:
•
National Industrial Policy
•
Asgi-SA policies

Create and maintain useful relationships with key
government departments and parastals to
harmonise relationships

Formalise contacts created with relevant stakeholders

Created a contact structure between the Commission and
•
Department of Minerals and Energy
•
Department of Public Enterprises
•
National Energy Regulator of SA
•
dti Consumer Working Group
•
National Credit Regulator
•
SA Post Office

Participate in the legislative process regarding
amendments to the Competition Act

Proposals and submissions on appropriate amendments

Several submissions and presentations done to the dti

Explain economic principles on key issues and
cases to Commission staff

8 economic briefs completed and circulated

10 economic briefs completed and circulated

Explain economic principles on key issues and
cases to SA public and competition practitioners

4 working papers completed and circulated via website

Decided that working paper format was not appropriate.
Conference papers and newspaper are a better way of
communicating.

Inputs to international forums - ICN and OECD

Presentation of 3 papers

OECD papers on the following:
•
Competition restrictions in legal professions
•
Providing guidance to business on competition
matters
Contributions at OECD roundtable discussions on following
topics:
•
Competition and trade / business associations
•
Antitrust issues involving minority shareholding and
interlocking directorates
•
Techniques for presenting complex economic theories
to judges

Effective working teams or contacts maintained
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Predetermined Objective

Targets

Achievements
Participation in the unilateral conduct working group of the
ICN

Increase awareness of the Commission’s work

8 completed articles

2 due to capacity constraints

Establish Commission as leading centre of
competition economics

2 published articles in peer reviewed journals, books

5 articles published in the following journals:
•
Journal of Contemporary African Studies
•
New Agenda
•
Transformation
•
Development and Change
•
Journal of Competition Law and Economics

Create awareness and provide information

12 seminar programmes

5 seminars held. 18 internal capacity building sessions held for
staff on competition economics. 2 four day external courses with
external experts

4 workshops on analysis for major cases, presented by interdivisional teams

5 ‘Kom Praat Saam’ sessions held with staff
South African Competition Economics Forum (2 meetings)
Annual SA Competition Law and Economics Conference
2 information campaigns and 3 exhibitions
3 training sessions to businesses about the Competition Act
in order for them to understand the risk associated with noncompliance

This activity was combined with the Annual Competition
Commission Conference on Competition Law, Economics and
Policy in SA. It was agreed to combine this and not to have
stand alone sessions.
1 exhibition held reaching 120 visitors
4 workshops (Coega Industrial Development Zone, Eskom,
Tswane Chamber of Commerce, Aveng Group)
13 consumer workshops held reaching 869 visitors. Workshops
held in the Eastern Cape, Limpopo, Free State, Kwa Zulu
Natal and Gauteng

Knowledge Management (KM) implementation

Internal review of knowledge sharing systems, tools,
practices

Knowledge mapping exercises conducted to evaluate knowledge
needs

Assess and identify KM learning needs and desired
outcomes

Staff training seminars and workshops held

KM framework and implementation plan

Develop tools to mobilize internal and external information and
knowledge resources efficiently

Explain process of complaint investigation and
exemption evaluation to wider group of
stakeholders

Write 4 articles for the Commission Newsletter to explain
and discuss investigations into alleged contraventions of the
Act and/or evaluation of exemption applications.

Not done due to capacity constraints

Coordinate and manage communication
publications

1800 Annual reports

1800 Annual reports printed and 1700 distributed

2500 newsletters

2500 newsletters distributed

Other publications on ad hoc basis

5000 consumer guides printed

Handbook on the Competition Commission’s composition
and function

5000 pocket guides printed
Handbook not completed
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Predetermined Objective

Targets

Achievements

Manage and coordinate external relationships
with media and general public

6 media releases

15 media releases

4 advertorials

1 advertorial

2 media briefs

No media briefs
41 TV interviews
97 radio interviews
2 meetings with parliamentary portfolio committees

Manage and review website

Updated and user friendly website

The design phase has been completed. Information flow still
needs to be addressed

Develop integrated communication strategy

Impact assessment
Integrated communication strategy

Impact assessment done and communication strategy developed
and approved by the executive committee
Media training workshop for selected staff members took place

Manage internal communication actions

35 Newsflashes

10 Newsflashes (converted from weekly to monthly)

4 staff meetings

7 staff meetings

10 happy hours

7 happy hours

1 award ceremony

1 award ceremony and year end function combined

1 year end function
Contribute to the activities of the Regulators
Forum:
•
Quarterly meeting
•
Newsletter

4 quarterly meetings

Promote and maintain corporate identity and
awareness

Branding

Produced 6 banners for use during exhibitions and outreach
campaigns

Effective procurement system

Professional service database with reference to experts in
different fields

Complied with supply chain framework. Supplier database
system updated with IQUAL System

Fixed Assets

Donation of IT equipment

No redundant assets to donate

Purchase of new Commission vehicle

Carried over to next financial year

Implement new fixed asset system

New Hardcat system implemented

Revision of HR policies and creation of HR manual

All HR related policies handed to service provider for revision
to ensure best practices are implemented. Draft revised policies
received.

Staff morale and motivation

1 meeting was convened by the Regulators Forum which was
attended by the Commission. No newsletters were produced.
Since 2006, the Commission has not acted as the secretariat and
therefore has no control over the number of meetings set or
newsletters produced.

4 articles
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Predetermined Objective

Targets

Achievements

Effective staff recruitment and retention

Competency assessment tool for shortlisted candidates and
competency tracking

Competency based interviews implemented

Manage employee performance

Review of performance management system policy and
systems

Performance Management System, Reward Framework and
Remuneration Policy revised and approved

Succession planning to enhance continuity in the
Commission

Develop process for effective mentorship programme. Link
to promotion policy

Decided that this activity should form part of the training and
development program that will be developed and implemented
in the next financial year

Effective training and development

Develop training and development program

This activity will be carried over to the next financial year due
to capacity constraints.
1 workshop held

To host money management workshop for staff
Maintain integrated and highly effective IT
systems

Research and develop systems for the effective utilisation of IT
Develop IT systems in accordance with the proposed
knowledge management strategy
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Service provider appointed to develop case management system
aligned to new knowledge management strategy. Work in
process.

Upgrade/replace all old hardware

31 laptops and 56 desk tops replaced

Upgrade of software and case management systems

Ongoing process

Efficient information and records management

Implementation of document version control
Review current offsite storage SLAs

Document version control carried over to next financial year
Review completed. Current provider contracts extended

Provide effective safety and security

Best practice security policies and practices in line with
legislation and dti campus regulations.

dti campus security policies implemented

Comply with Occupational Health and Safety
legislation

Comply with Occupational Health and Safety legislation

Compliance with legislation observed
Health and Safety committee met on quarterly basis
Fire audit and energy conservation assessment done

Well maintained facilities

Monitor facility related services

Facilities maintained on an ongoing basis
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